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Report of the Auditor-General
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying Group financial 

statements and financial statements of PetroSA, which 
comprise the consolidated and separate balance sheet 
as at 31 March 2009 and the consolidated and separate 
income statement, the consolidated and separate 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated and 
separate cash flow statements for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies, other 
explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, as set out on 
pages 80 to 146.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial 
statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice and in the manner required 
by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 
of 1999) (PFMA) and the Companies Act of South Africa 
and for such internal control as the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

The Auditor-General’s responsibility
3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the 

Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the 
Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), section 
300 of the Companies Act of South Africa and section 1E(3) 
of the Central Energy Fund Act, 1977 (Act No. 38 of 1977) 
as amended, my responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 616 of 
2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 
May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion 
7. In my opinion these financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of PetroSA as at 31 March 2009 and its 
consolidated and separate financial performance and its 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then 
ended, in accordance with South African Statements of 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and in the manner 
required by the PFMA and the Companies Act of South 
Africa.

Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the 
following matter:

Restatement of corresponding figures
8. As disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements, the 

corresponding figures for 31 March 2008 have been 
restated as a result of errors discovered during 2009 in 
the group financial statements and financial statements of 
PetroSA at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2008.

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Group financial statements and performance 
information of the Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South Africa (Proprietary) Limited 
(PetroSA) for the year ended 31 March 2009

Report on the financial statements



PetroSA Annual Report 2009 67

PetroSA

Other matters
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the 
following matters that relates to my responsibilities in the 
audit of the financial statements:

Unaudited supplementary schedules
9. The supplementary information set out on page 147 does 

not form part of the financial statements and is presented 
as additional information. I have not audited this schedule 
and accordingly I do not express an opinion thereon.

Governance framework
10. The governance principles that impact the auditor’s 

opinion on the financial statements are related to 
the responsibilities and practices exercised by the 
accounting authority and executive management and 
are reflected in the key governance responsibilities 
addressed below:

Key governance responsibilities
11. The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a 

number of responsibilities concerning financial and 
risk management and internal control. Fundamental 
to achieving this is the implementation of certain key 
governance responsibilities, which I have assessed as 
follows:

No. Matter Y N

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and provided in a timely manner
1. No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the availability of requested information. Y

Quality of financial statements and related management information
2. The financial statements were not subject to any material amendments resulting from the audit. N

3. The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the tabling of the auditor’s report. Y

Timeliness of financial statements and management information
4. The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as per the legislated deadlines - section 55 of the PFMA. Y

Availability of key officials during audit 
5. Key officials were available throughout the audit process. Y

Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal control and governance practices
6. Audit committee

• The company had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year. Y

• The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference. Y

• The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in section 77 of the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.

Y

7. Internal audit

• The company had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial year. Y

• The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan. Y

• The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in Treasury Regulation 
27.2.

Y

8.
There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of financial and risk 
management.

Y

9.
There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. 

Y

10. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of the financial statements. Y
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12. PetroSA has maintained satisfactory levels of compliance 
with the relevant legislation relating to governance and 
continued to comply with good practice principles. 
The entity has also maintained these levels within the 
subsidiaries. The result of this discipline within the group 
is acceptable levels of financial and internal control 
management. These practices have resulted in unqualified 
audit reports for the group for the financial year reviewed.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
Report on performance information
13. I have reviewed the performance information as set out on 

pages 75 to 78.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the perform-
ance information
14. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as 

required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the 
annual report and audited financial statements fairly present 
the performance against predetermined objectives of the 
public entity.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility
15. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 

of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in 
Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008.

16. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included 
performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain 
sufficient appropriate evidence about the performance 
information and related systems, processes and 
procedures. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement.

17. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to report that no significant findings have been 
identified as a result of my review.

Appreciation

18. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Petroleum Oil 
and Gas Corporation of South Africa (Pty) Ltd during the 
audit is sincerely appreciated.

Pretoria
31 July 2009

No. Matter Y N

11.
A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk management strategy, which includes a fraud preven-
tion plan, is documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 27.2.

Y

12. Powers and duties have been assigned, as set out in section 56 of the PFMA. Y

Follow-up of audit findings
13. The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed. Y

Issues relating to the reporting of performance information

15.
The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of a performance report that is accurate and com-
plete.

Y

16.
Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and implemented to ensure the accuracy and completeness 
of reported performance information.

Y

17.
A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year under review for purposes of monitoring the perform-
ance in relation to the budget and delivery by PetroSA against its mandate, predetermined objectives, outputs, indica-
tors and targets Treasury Regulation 29.1.

Y

18.
There is a functioning performance management system and performance bonuses are only paid after proper assess-
ment and approval by those charged with governance.

Y
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The report is presented in terms of the Public Finance 
Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA), as amended, and is 
focused on the financial results and financial position of 
the Company. Information pertaining to the Company’s 
state of affairs, its business operations and performance 
against predetermined objectives is disclosed elsewhere 
in the  annual report. 

The directors are responsible for the preparation, 
integrity and fair presentation of the consolidated annual 
financial  statements and supplementary information 
of The Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South 
Africa (Pty) Ltd and its  subsidiaries. In order for the 
directors to discharge these responsibilities, as well 
as those bestowed on them in terms  of the PFMA and 
other applicable legislation, they have developed and 
maintained a system of internal financial controls.  

The financial statements, presented on pages 80 - 146, 
have been prepared in accordance with the South 
African  Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice and the Companies Act of South Africa, 1973, 
and include  amounts based on appropriate accounting 
policies, supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates  made by management.  

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities as stated 
above and have established internal financial controls 
and  risk management systems that maintain a strong 
control environment. These systems are designed to 
provide  reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatements and losses. Based on information 
and  explanations received from management, and 
the internal auditors on the maintenance of the internal 

financial  controls, the directors are of the opinion that 
proper accounting records have been maintained and 
that reliance can  be placed on the financial information 
used for this annual report.  

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing 
the financial statements. The directors have no reason 
to  believe that the Group will not be a going concern in 
the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available 
cash  resources. The viability of the Group is supported 
by the financial statements.  

The financial statements have been audited by the 
Auditor-General, who was given unrestricted access 
to all financial  records and related data, including 
minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of 
Directors, committees of the Board, and management. 
The directors believe that all representations made to 
the independent auditors during their  audit were valid 
and appropriate. The Auditor-General’s audit report is 
attached.  

In the opinion of the directors based on information 
available to date, the annual financial statements fairly 
present the  financial position of PetroSA as at 31 March 
2009, and the results of its operations and cash flow 
information for the year  under review.  

The annual financial statements set out on pages          
80 - 146, for the year ended 31 March 2009, which 
have been  prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the Board of Directors in terms of Section 
51(1) (f) of the Public Finance Management Act on 15 
July 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:

Director                 Director

Cape Town
15 July 2009

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval
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Statement on  Corporate Governance
for the year ended 31 March 2009

 1. Introduction
Corporate governance at PetroSA reflects an attitude 
premised on ethos rather than a mere statement. The 
Group has a formalised system of corporate governance, 
which is a catalyst for improved compliance and 
enhanced performance. 

The PetroSA Group is committed to the principles of 
transparency, integrity and accountability as advocated 
by the King Committee Report on Corporate Governance 
for South Africa 2002 (King II), as well as Protocol on 
Corporate Governance in the Public Sector. 

Key initiatives undertaken to ensure compliance and good 
corporate governance: 
l  An annual review of the Board Charter and terms of 
 reference of Board committees; 
l   An annual evaluation of the performance of PetroSA 
 Board of Directors; 
l Putting in place a policy on directors’ access to   
 independent professional advice; 
l  Annual update of PetroSA levels of authority matrix; 
l   Compilation and annual review of a comprehensive 
 Board induction pack; 
l  Development of a PetroSA subsidiary shareholder
 compact; and 
l  Ensuring that Board members are continuously 
 exposed to training on corporate governance and 
 developments within the industry. 

 2.  Governing bodies
Boards of Directors 

The Group has a unitary Board structure made up of a 
majority of non-executive directors, appointed by the 
Shareholder. The Board of Directors (the Board) meets at 
least once every quarter, and executive managers attend 
by invitation. The Board charges Executive Management 
with regard to the day-to-day running of business, with 
the Board addressing a range of key issues to ensure 
that it retains the strategic direction of, and proper 
control over, the Group. The non-executive directors are 
appointed on a three-year cycle and reappointment is not 
automatic. The offices of Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer are separate. 

In accordance with the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 
1 of 1999) the Board is the accounting authority of PetroSA. In 
keeping with the recommendations of the King Report, the Board 
adopted a Board Charter that sets out the role of the Board as 
follows. 

The Board’s primary responsibilities include the appointment 
of the CEO, determining the Company’s objectives and values 
and giving strategic direction to the Company, taking effective 
and appropriate steps to ensure that key risk areas and 
key performance indicators of the Company’s business are 
identified, monitoring the performance of the Company against 
agreed objectives, advising on significant financial matters and 
reviewing the performance of Executive Management against 
defined objectives and applicable industry standards, as well as: 
l  Approving key policies, investments, risk management 
 and relevant transactions that exceed management’s 
 levels of authority; 
l  Reviewing and approving the Company’s strategy, 
 objectives, and plans; 
l  Considering and approving annual financial 
 statements and submissions to the Shareholder; 
l  Ensuring adherence to good corporate governance 
 and ethics; 
l  Monitoring and directing triple bottom line 
 performance; and 
l  Reviewing effectiveness of controls. 

Company Secretary 

The Company Secretary provides the Board of Directors with 
guidance and advice on matters of business ethics and good 
governance, as well as on the nature and extent of their duties 
and responsibilities and how such duties and responsibilities 
should be properly discharged. 

Each of the directors has unrestricted access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretarial Team, Company 
information, and is entitled to seek independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense in pursuance of their duties as 
director. 

Board Committees 

The Board established several committees to assist it in the 
discharge of its duties. Each committee operates within its 
defined terms of reference and is chaired by a non-executive 
director.
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Board Audit Committee (BAC) 

The audit committee consists of non-executive directors 
appointed by the Board of Directors. This committee meets at 
least four times per year and is chaired by an independent non-
executive director who is not the Chairman of the Board. 

The Auditor-General and Chief Internal Auditor have 
unrestricted access to the committee and attend audit 
committee meetings. Appropriate executive managers, 
including those responsible for finance and internal audit, 
attend these meetings by invitation. 

The audit committee reviews the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal controls of the Group with special reference to the 
findings of both internal and external auditors. Other areas 
covered include the review of important accounting and 
control issues, specific disclosures in the annual financial 
statements, and a review of the performance of the Internal 
Audit Department.  

Board Human Capital Committee (HCC)  

This committee is chaired by a non-executive director and 
comprises non-executive directors appointed by the Board. 
The President and CEO, and Vice-President: Human Capital 
attend the committee meetings by invitation. This committee 
reviews and recommends annual remuneration increases, terms 
and conditions of employment, the payment of incentives and 
bonuses, general fringe benefits, human capital-related policies 
and the appointment of senior staff at executive level. 

 Risk Management and Compliance Committee 
(RMCC) 

The RMCC is responsible for identifying and ensuring that 
all common Group risk denominators, weaknesses and 
opportunities are identified and managed on a Group-wide 
basis. This committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive director and comprises non-executive directors 
appointed by the Board. 

Whilst it is important that senior management (within their 
divisions) manage risk as being integral to business processes, 
it is vital that the management of risk links to the overall strategy 
and direction of PetroSA. The overall PetroSA risk policy 
ensures that opportunities are identified and duplication of risk 
management effort is avoided. 

The committee assists the Board in reviewing the risk 
management process and the significant risks facing PetroSA, 
and in providing a focal point for reporting on wider risk issues 
to the Board.

Business Performance and Strategy Committee 
(BPSC)  

This committee is chaired by a non-executive director and 
comprises non-executive directors appointed by the Board. 

The purpose of the BPSC is to ensure that Company processes 
are aligned with overall vision and strategic direction; strategy 
management; business management; capital investment; joint 
venture formations and performance measurement framework.
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Composition of Board and Board Committees for the financial year under review: 

Board 
Audit 
Committee 

Human 
Capital 
Committee 

Business 
Performance 
and Strategy 
Committee 

Risk 
Management 
and 
Compliance 
Committee 

Non-executive directors: Board BAC HCC BPSC RMCC 

Dr P S Molefe Chairman Member 

Mr M B Damane Director Member 

Prof B Figaji Director Member Member Member 

Mr A Nkuhlu Director Member Chairman 

Mr D R Zihlangu Director Chairman Member 

Ms C W N Molope Director Chairman 

Mr M Kajee Director Member Chairman 

Ms N Vukuza-Linda Director Member Member 

Ms B B Siwisa Director Member 

Mr M W Mkhize Director Member 

Executive directors: 

Mr S Mkhize President and CEO/Director Invitee Invitee Invitee Invitee 

Mr N G Nika CFO/Director Invitee Invitee Invitee
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the Group 
annual financial statements and other information presented 
in the annual report. The Auditor-General is responsible for 
performing an independent audit of the annual financial 
statements. 

The annual financial statements and notes thereto are 
prepared in accordance with South African Statements of 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP). Accounting 
policies are consistently applied except where otherwise 
stated, in which case full disclosure of changes is made. 

The directors believe that the Company and Group will 
continue as a going concern in the year ahead.  

The primary objective of the Internal Audit Department is 
to determine whether the organisation’s network of risk 
management, control and governance processes, as 
designed and represented by management, are adequate 
and functioning in a manner to ensure that: 

l Risks are appropriately identified and managed; 
l Good corporate governance is achieved; 
l Significant financial, managerial and operating 

information is accurate, reliable and timely; 
l Employees’ actions are in compliance with policies, 

standards, procedures and applicable laws and 
regulations; 

l Resources are acquired economically, used efficiently 
and adequately protected; 

l Programmes, plans and objectives are achieved; and
l Quality and continuous improvement are fostered in 

PetroSA’s control processes. 
Nothing has come to the attention of the directors, nor to the 
attention of management or the internal auditors, to indicate 

that any material breakdown in the functioning of the above-
mentioned internal controls and systems has occurred during 
the year under review. 

In PetroSA, enterprise risk management refers to the 
proactive management of threats whilst exhausting related 
opportunities that are presented by taking balanced 
decisions. The President and CEO, through the Risk 
Management and Compliance Department, is accountable 
for assuring the Board that the risk management process is 
in place and integrated into everyday business activities of 
PetroSA. Some of the key objectives of the Risk Management 
and Compliance Department are:

l Assisting the Board in setting policy and strategy for 
risk management and compliance in PetroSA; 

l Facilitating the appointment of primary champions of 
risk management and compliance at both strategic 
and operational level; 

l Building a risk awareness culture within the 
organisation, including appropriate education; 

l Establishing internal risk policy, compliance and fraud 
policies as well as facilitating the creation of structures 
for the effective role of the enterprise-wide risk 
management function; 

l Designing and reviewing processes for risk 
management;

l Coordinating the various functional activities, which 
advise management and staff on risk management 
and compliance issues within the organisation; and

l Assisting the organisation in developing risk response 
processes for transversal risks, including contingency 
and business continuity programmes. 

Through the Risk Management and Compliance Department, 
the Company endeavours to minimise risk by ensuring 
that risk management and the culture of compliance are 
integrated into management processes throughout the 
organisation. 

Composition of Board and Board Committees for the financial year under review: 

Board 
Audit 
Committee 

Human 
Capital 
Committee 

Business 
Performance 
and Strategy 
Committee 

Risk 
Management 
and 
Compliance 
Committee 

Non-executive directors: Board BAC HCC BPSC RMCC 

Dr P S Molefe Chairman Member 

Mr M B Damane Director Member 

Prof B Figaji Director Member Member Member 

Mr A Nkuhlu Director Member Chairman 

Mr D R Zihlangu Director Chairman Member 

Ms C W N Molope Director Chairman 

Mr M Kajee Director Member Chairman 

Ms N Vukuza-Linda Director Member Member 

Ms B B Siwisa Director Member 

Mr M W Mkhize Director Member 

Executive directors: 

Mr S Mkhize President and CEO/Director Invitee Invitee Invitee Invitee 

Mr N G Nika CFO/Director Invitee Invitee Invitee

3. Directors’ responsibility for the 
    annual financial statements

4. Internal audit

5. Enterprise risk management 
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An integrated communication strategy has been developed 
for all employees at all levels to ensure that risk awareness 
is incorporated into the PetroSA working culture and 
language. Major risks that could influence the achievement 
of PetroSA’s strategic objectives are identified, assessed 
and prioritised regularly through a risk assessment and 
accountability framework and control mechanisms are 
implemented to manage and monitor these risks. 

There are comprehensive management reporting 
disciplines in place, which include the preparation of 
annual budgets by all divisions and reporting thereon on 
a quarterly basis. The budget and capital expenditure 
are reviewed and approved by the Board. Quarterly 
performance results and the financial status of the 
Company and Group are reported against approved 
targets. Profit projections and forecasted cash flows are 
updated monthly, while working capital and borrowing 
levels are monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Executive Management meets on a regular basis to 
consider day-to-day issues pertaining to the business of 
the Group. More formal bi-weekly meetings address issues 
such as report-back from the various divisions on results 
achieved, as well as issues or opportunities that could 
impact on the Group, its trading activities and short-term 
planning. 

Directors and employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards, ensuring that business 

practices are conducted in a manner that, in all reasonable 
circumstances, is beyond reproach. The Code of Ethics 
also articulates conduct with respect to conflicts of interest, 
confidentiality, fair dealing, among others. 

PetroSA has contracted the services of an independent 
hotline service provider for the confidential reporting 
of fraud and other inappropriate behaviour. Employee 
breaches are dealt with in accordance with the disciplinary 
policy. In addition, directors are required to annually 
declare their interests in contracts as well as directorships 
in other companies in accordance with the Companies Act. 

Employment Equity (EE) and Black Economic  
Empowerment (BEE) 

The PetroSA Group has been engaged in EE and 
development processes for the past six years as a merged 
entity, and prior to this for a number of years as individual 
companies. This process is designed to increase the 
number of employees from designated groups and further 
empower and train such employees at all levels. An EE 
policy has been approved by the Board. To that end, 
the 60:40 designated to non-designated employee ratio 
guideline as set by the Board is being followed.

Worker participation 

The Group has participative structures at various levels for 
handling issues that have a direct impact on employees. 
These structures, which have been set up in consultation 
with the two recognised unions, are designed to achieve 
good employer-employee relations and uphold Company 
values through effective sharing of relevant information, 
consultation and identification and resolution of conflict.

6. Management reporting 

7. Code of Ethics 

8. Social responsibility 
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A summary of The Petroleum Oil And Gas Corporation of South Africa (Pty) Ltd Group’s business performance against objectives 
is contained in the table below: 

Objective Key performance indicator Target Actual Performance results 

1. People 1.1 Retention strategy 
1.1.1 Turnover amongst specialist 
categories 

<7% of exodus of 
critical skills as % of 
total permanent staff 

4.33% Achieved 

2. Finance 2.1 Volumes
 2.1.1 GTL Refinery output 9.74 MMbbls by 

31 March 2009 
7.44 MMbbls Not Achieved 

2.1.2 Non-feedstock production 
(including Abana) 

2.45 MMbbls by 
31 March 2009 

2.81 MMbbls Achieved 

2.2 Profitability analysis
2.2.1 EVA >12% -6% Not Achieved 

2.2.2 Gross margin percentage 26% 22% Not Achieved 

2.3 BEE
2.3.1 Procurement spend 50% of Procurement 

Spend 
41% Not Achieved 

2.3.2 BEE sales 175 million litres 146 million litres Not Achieved 

3. Internal 
Business

3.1 SHEQ 
3.1.1 Disabling injuries (DIFR) <0.4 0.31 Achieved 

Processes 3.1.2 Environmental spillages 0 2 Not Achieved 

3.2 LTFT technology development 
3.2.1 2G Catalyst verification 
successfully completed 

Performance criteria 
achieved by 31 March 
2009 

Refer to 3.2.1 Achieved 

3.3 Feedstock and non-feedstock 
3.3.1 LNG importation Milestones as at 31 

March 2009 
Refer to 3.3.1 Not Achieved 

3.4 Infrastructure initiatives 
3.4.1 Liquid fuels logistics Project has several 

milestones 
Refer to 3.4.1 Achieved 

3.4.2 Crude refinery Draft feasibility study 
report ready by            
31 March 2009 

Refer to 3.4.2 Not Achieved

Performance Against Objectives
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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The year under review was characterised by unprecedented 
volatility in commodity prices, the onset of the global 
recession, and internally, the continued decline of feedstock 
for PetroSA’s main income source – the GTL Refinery. 

Despite the above challenges the year under review can be 
described as a successful year for PetroSA. 

Financially, the Company continued to operate profitably. 
This is largely attributable to the higher commodity prices 
achieved, the continuation of crude oil production from the 
Oribi–Oryx field, as well as increased focus on cost cutting, 
Company-wide. This helped mitigate a significant reduction 
in production due to declining feedstock reserves and a 
fire at the GTL Refinery, which resulted in the outage of a 
key production unit from December 2008 to the end of the 
financial year. 

Key achievements in the various strategic initiatives are 
discussed below:

Project Jabulani: Significant progress was made, with 
four new wells drilled, and a well work-over successfully 
completed. This helps extend commercial production to 2011 
and creates possibilities for further domestic gas supply to 
complement ongoing efforts to import liquefied natural gas 
(LNG). 

LNG import project: Negotiations with potential suppliers of 
LNG progressed well. A business model, based on importing 
LNG over a five-year period to 2016, was developed. This 
business model necessitated an interrogation of PetroSA’s 
business model, with a view to ensuring overall commerciality. 
This interrogation was successfully carried out, with 
significant cost-cutting and value-enhancement initiatives 
identified.

The actual implementation of the supporting initiatives will 
now be carried out. 

Project Mthombo: The pre-feasibility studies were 
completed. An engineering contractor (KBR) and a financial 
advisor (HSBC) were appointed. A manufacturing licence was 
granted subject to the completion of an Environmental Impact 
Assessment. 

Further success was achieved on the Broad-Based Black 
Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) front, where PetroSA 
received a rating as a Level 2 contributor from Empowerdex, 
underscoring PetroSA’s efforts to continue playing a key role 
in industry and society transformation.

The Company’s skills retention strategy started bearing 
fruit, with the number of critical skills turnover for 2008/2009 
having improved to 4.33% (down from the 6.6% achieved in 
2007/2008). 

On the downside, the Company experienced a fatality at the 
GTL Refinery following a fire alluded to earlier. This resulted 
in PetroSA’s performance in safety, health, environment and 
quality (SHEQ) being below expectations. Investigations 
into the accident are progressing well. Measures have been 
taken to raise the level of safety consciousness and to avert a 
recurrence. 

Overall, the year’s performance has created a platform 
from which the organisation can further advance its Vision 
2020 strategy. A Company-wide launch of the Vision 2020 
strategy, carried out in October 2008, has helped sensitise 
the organisation about PetroSA’s sustainability, growth and 
transformation agenda. Despite challenges ahead, the 
Company does have enough energy to deliver yet another set 
of positive results in 2009/2010.

Corporate performance
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1.1 Retention strategy  
1.1.1 Turnover amongst specialist categories

The target of 7% represents the ratio of the critical skills lost 
to the total number of permanent staff, and is benchmarked 
relative to the 2007/2008 result at PetroSA. 

The number of critical skills that have left the Company is 
4.33%. This represents an improvement when compared with 
the expected 7%. 

2.1 Volumes 
2.1.1 GTL Refinery output 

Production volumes for the year were 23.6% below budget, 
mainly due to unit outages following the Naptha Hydrotreater 
(NHT) fire and the gradual depletion of gas reserves (primarily 
feedstock for the GTL Refinery). The NHT unit fire occurred 
on 25 December 2008 and resulted in changes in operations 
from a three-reformers-by-two-synthols operation (3X2) to a 
2X2 operation (an overall reduction of about 30% of refinery 
capacity). This resulted in reduced processing of imported 
condensate and increased consumption of reformate by 21%. 
Propane was reformed during times when feed from offshore 
was below the minimum required to run stable operations. 

2.1.2 Non–feedstock production (including Abana) 

Non-feedstock (crude oil) production for the full year is 11% 
above budget despite Oribi Oryx not producing as budgeted 
due to the Orca refurbishment. Sable production, according 
to budget, was supposed to end in April but it continued 
production until 30 September 2008. Abana produced above 
budget. 

2.2 Profitability analysis 
2.2.1 Economic Value Add (EVA) 

The actual return on capital employed was -6%, which is lower 
than the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of 12%. 
The low return on capital is attributable to lower margins cited 

above. This means, therefore, that the EVA target for the year 
has not been achieved. 

2.2.2 Gross margin percentage 

A gross margin of 22% was achieved against a target of 
26%. Production volumes were adversely affected by plant 
operational challenges and the depleting feedstock reserves. 
Imported fuels were used to augment indigenous volumes and 
their lower returns eroded margins overall. 

2.3. Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) 
2.3.1 Preferential procurement 

For the 2008/2009 financial year, payments made to 
suppliers of goods and services equalled 26.45% of the total 
procurement spend. In line with the BBBEE codes, the BEE 
procurement expenditure equalled 41% for the period under 
review.

2.3.2 BEE sales 

The actual 2008/2009 BEE sales were 83% of the target. Total 
sales were made up of fuels and chemicals. Fuel sales for the 
year were lower than budget mainly owing to supply problems 
from November to December 2008 due to delays in finalising 
the contract with two of the larger oil companies. There was 
also a general national fall in diesel usage in the third and 
fourth quarter of 2008. The low production at the Mossel Bay 
Plant in June 2008 to September 2008 impacted negatively on 
affected sales of LPG and Propane.

3.1 Safety, Health, Environment and Quality 
3.1.1 Disabling injuries 

The DIFR (Disabling Injury Frequency Rate) is calculated on 
the basis of a rolling 12-month formula from July 2008 to June 
2009. The DIFR is calculated as follows: 

DIFR =            NUMBER OF INJURIES x 200 000 (hours)                     
       NUMBER OF HOURS WORKED (DURING PERIOD UNDER REVIEW) 
(Industry DIFR standard is 1, compared with PetroSA’s 
benchmark of 0.4) 
The DIFR at the end of the financial year stands at 0.31. 

1. People 

2. Finance 

3. Internal business processes 
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The GTL Refinery experienced the first ever fatality to be 
recorded by PetroSA. Following a fire on 25 December 2008 
on Unit 29 – the Naphtha Hydrotreater (NHT) unit – it was 
necessary to conduct an inspection of the NHT reactors to 
assess their integrity. It was during the work in the reactors 
that one of the contracting workers died after falling from a 
rope ladder inside the vessel. This fatal incident took place 
on Tuesday 6 January 2009. Corrective actions have already 
been taken by management to ensure that no incidents of 
this nature take place again. 

3.1.2 Environmental incidents 

These are high impact incidents that threaten PetroSA’s 
operating licence and permits, or significant spillages, or 
gas leakages that may result in employees and communities 
being evacuated. There were two such environmental 
incidents during the year under review. 

An environmental incident was registered in the second 
quarter of the financial year at the FA Platform where 5.8 
tons of Freon were unaccounted for and thus considered 
spilled over a 25-day period. This loss was mainly caused 
by poor isolations and/or valve closures that were not 
properly affected during repair work done on the set of three 
refrigeration compressors. This consumption of 5.5 tons of 
Freon is considered very high for such a short period of time. 

During December 2008, there was a fire at unit 29. As a 
result, black smoke was released to the atmosphere on 
Christmas Day. 

3.2. Low Temperature Fischer Tropsch 
Technology (LTFT) 
3.2.1 LTFT technology development 

Project milestones 
The target was for the second catalyst verification to be 
completed by the end of February 2009, and the Process 
Design Package (PDP) and Design Manual by the end of 
March 2009. 

Project status 
The second catalyst verification was completed at the end of 
February 2009 with less than two months of high gas velocity 
test run. The PDP and Design manual was completed at the 

end of March 2009. 

3.3. Feedstock and non-feedstock 
3.3.1 LNG importation 

Project scope 
Installation of two underwater flexible risers from the existing 
gas pipeline to two buoys. The two buoys are Submerged 
Turret Loading (STL) buoys and will be located at an agreed 
distance. LNG to be delivered to the STL buoys via a 
specially designed vessel. 

Project milestones 
The targets for the LNG importation in the short-term were 
the completion of feasibility studies on LNG, initiation of an 
environmental impact assessment (EIA), project sanction 
to be achieved and long lead items ordered before the 
new financial year. The project remains on track for a final 
investment decision in the last quarter of 2009. 

3.4. Infrastructure initiatives 
3.4.1 Liquid fuels logistics 

Feasibility studies have been developed. These include 
the initiation of the Coega Development Corporation (CDC) 
workshop and the EIA process, submission of the land report 
to the Department of Transport, appointment of consultants 
to conduct feasibility studies, and completion of the product 
placement footprint model. 

3.4.2 Crude refinery 

The pre-feasibility studies were completed. An engineering 
contractor (KBR) was appointed, as was the financial advisor 
(HSBC). A manufacturing licence was granted subject to the 
completion of an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). 
The EIA scoping report is on hold pending the initiation of 
EIAs for the Transnet National Ports Authority and Coega 
Development Corporation.

Technology packages have been issued. The contracting 
and execution strategies are pending and the strategy and 
Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) structure framework is in 
progress. Feasibility studies are on stream for completion 
in August 2009, and identification of key partners is still in 
progress.
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              Group                    Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Revenue 12,283,554) 10,608,809) 12,304,086) 10,610,212)
Paid to suppliers for material and
services (10,663,368) (7,388,006) (10,178,137) (7,308,784)
Income from investments 1,550,172) 1,168,373) 1,716,596) 1,267,828)
Wealth created 3,170,358) 4,389,176) 3,842,545) 4,569,256)

Wealth distributed as follows:
Management and employees
Remuneration and benefits 983,276) 805,460) 960,001) 785,920)
Providers of capital
Dividends to shareholders 725,000) 425,000) 725,000) 425,000)
Interest on borrowings net of foreign
loan revaluations (29,867) 11,544) (29,867) 11,536)
Government
Taxation 539) 665,708) (2,175) 664,310)
Other payments 4,941) 4,530) 4,941) 4,530)
Total distributions 1,683,889) 1,912,242) 1,657,900) 1,891,296)

Retained for re-investment
Depreciation 425,234) 848,827) 423,093) 848,476)
Income retained in the business 1,061,235) 1,628,107) 1,761,552) 1,829,484)

3,170,358) 4,389,176) 3,842,545) 4,569,256)

The value-added statement measures performance in terms of value added by the Group through the collective efforts of 
management, employees and the providers of capital. The statement shows how the value added has been distributed to those 
contributing to its creation.

Explanations of large movements 

1. Remuneration and benefits – The 22% increase is mainly attributable to the payment of an EVA bonus relating to the 2008 
 financial year which was not accrued for. 

2.  Interest on borrowings net of foreign loan revaluations – The effect of the revaluation of foreign loans is a credit of 
 R44 million which nets off interest paid of R15 million. 

3.  Taxation – The decrease in taxation is as a result of PetroSA being in a tax loss position on oil and gas income in this financial year. 

4.  Depreciation – A lower depreciation charge is due to the useful life of the Mossel Bay manufacturing plant being extended by five  
  years with the introduction of the LNG project plan.

Value-added Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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The directors present their annual report that forms part of the audited annual financial statements for the Group for the 
year ended 31 March 2009.

1. Directors

The directors of the company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Dr P S Molefe Non-Executive (Chairman)
Mr M B Damane Non-Executive
Mr S Mkhize Executive - President and CEO
Prof B Figaji Non-Executive
Mr N G Nika Executive - Chief Financial Officer
Mr A Nkuhlu Non-Executive (Resigned 31 May 2009)
Mr D R Zihlangu Non-Executive
Ms C W N Molope Non-Executive
Mr M Kajee Non-Executive
Ms N Vukuza-Linda Non-Executive (Resigned 7 May 2009)
Ms B B Siwisa Non-Executive
Mr M W Mkhize Non-Executive

Attendance at meetings:
22/05/2008 21/07/2008 15/08/2008 13/11/2008 14/11/2008 11/12/2008 16/02/2009

Dr P S Molefe Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr M B Damane Y Y Y N N Y Y
Mr S Mkhize Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr D R Zihlangu Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Ms C W N Molope N N Y N Y N N
Prof B Figaji Y N Y Y Y N Y
Mr N G Nika Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr A Nkuhlu Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Ms B B Siwisa Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Ms N Vukuza-Linda Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr M W Mkhize N N Y Y Y Y Y
Mr M Kajee Y Y Y Y Y N Y

Y = Attended meeting N = Apology received - Did not attend meeting
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Board Audit Committee

The committee of the Board of Directors consists of the following members and invitees:

Ms C N W Molope Non-executive - Chairman
Prof B Figaji Non-executive
Mr M Kajee Non-executive
Mr N G Nika Executive
Mr S Mkhize Executive

Attendance at meetings:
16/05/2008 04/07/2008 17/07/2008 24/10/2008 02/02/2009

Ms C W N Molope Y Y Y Y Y
Prof B Figaji Y Y N N Y
Mr M Kajee Y N Y Y N
Mr N G Nika Y Y Y N Y
Mr S Mkhize Y Y Y Y Y

Y = Attended meeting N = Did not attend meeting

Board Human Capital Committee

This committee of the Board of Directors consists of the following members and invitees:

Mr D R Zihlangu Non-executive - Chairman

Mr A Nkuhlu Non-executive

Ms N Vukuza-Linda Non-executive

Dr P S Molefe Non-executive

Mr S Mkhize Executive

Attendance at meetings:
21/05/2008 03/07/2008 04/08/2008 23/10/2008 14/11/2008 06/02/2009

Mr D R Zihlangu N Y Y Y Y Y
Mr A Nkuhlu Y Y Y Y Y Y
Ms N Vukuza-Linda Y Y Y Y Y Y
Dr P S Molefe Y Y N N N Y
Mr S Mkhize Y Y Y Y N Y

Y = Attended meeting N = Did not attend meeting
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Board Business Performance and Strategy Committee

This committee of the Board of Directors consists of the following members and invitees:

Mr A Nkuhlu Non-executive - Chairman Resigned 31 May 2009
Prof B Figaji Non-executive
Mr M B Damane Non-executive
Mr D R Zihlangu Non-executive Appointed in October 2008
Mr M W Mkhize Non-executive
Mr S Mkhize Executive

Attendance at meetings:
17/04/2008 25/06/2008 11/08/2008 02/10/2008 13/11/2008 10/12/2008 30/01/2009 15/02/2009

Mr A Nkuhlu Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Prof B Figaji N Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr M B Damane Y Y N Y N Y Y Y
Mr M W Mkhize N Y N Y Y Y Y Y
Mr D R Zihlangu - - - Y Y Y Y Y
Mr S Mkhize N Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr N G Nika Y Y Y N Y Y Y Y

Y = Attended meeting N = Did not attend meeting  - = Not yet appointed

Board Risk Management and Compliance Committee

This committee of the Board of Directors consists of the following members and invitees:

Mr M Kajee Non-executive - Chairman
Prof B Figaji Non-executive
Mr D R Zihlangu Non-executive Re-deployed in October 2008 to BPSC
Ms B B Siwisa Non-executive
Ms N Vukuza-Linda Non-executive Appointed in October 2008
Mr S Mkhize Executive
Mr N G Nika Executive

Attendance at meetings:
04/04/2008 04/07/2008 02/02/2009

Mr M Kajee Y N N
Prof B Figaji N Y Y
Mr D R Zihlangu Y Y N/A
Ms B B Siwisa Y Y Y
Ms N Vukuza-Linda - - Y
Mr S Mkhize Y Y Y
Mr N G Nika Y Y Y

Y = Attended meeting   N/A = Not a member at date of meeting
N = Did not attend meeting   - = Not yet appointed
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The Secretary of the Company is Adv PSV Ngaba and her 
business and postal addresses are as follows:

Business address 51 Frans Conradie Drive
  Parow
  7500

Postal address Private Bag X1
  Parow
  7449

Activities

The main areas of activity within the Group during the year 
are as follows:

l Exploration and production of crude oil and natural 
gas off the south-eastern coast of South Africa and 
in Nigeria and participation in the acquisition of 
international upstream petroleum ventures;

l Production and marketing of synthetic fuels from 
offshore gas and condensate at the  Gas-to-Liquids 
(GTL) plant at Mossel Bay to the local  market, and 
high-value chemicals internationally; and

l Management of strategic crude oil stock and 
storage facilities on behalf of the Government.

Objectives

The key elements/objectives of PetroSA’s core business 
strategy are as follows:

1.   Exploration for feedstock and non-feedstock
1.1  Primary focus on gas projects in southern  

 Africa
1.2  Selectively develop opportunities to access  

 gas or crude in other parts of the world
2.   Commercialisation of GTL and COD

2.1  Develop projects to enhance GTL and COD  
 commercialisation efforts

3.   Diversify from the MOU
3.1  Enter the retail and commercial market
4.   Develop related infrastructure
4.1  Development of refining facility
4.2  Build/upgrade related infrastructure
4.3  Secure feedstock for the Mossel Bay plant  

 beyond  2010 (current reserves estimate)

Group financial results and operating activities 

Analysis and review of results and financial position 

The Group achieved a net profit of R1.96 billion (2008: 
R1.90 billion) for the year under review. Sales revenues 
were particularly high at R12 billion (2008: R10 billion) 
and are attributed to the high oil prices, which averaged 
$83.87 per barrel versus the previous year’s $82.29. 

Overall Group operating costs (R12 billion) increased by 
33% on the previous year (2008: R9.0 billion). This was 
mainly due to the increased cost of feedstock purchases 
as a result of the high oil prices and the weaker Rand. 
The minor change in the gross margin year-on-year is also 
reflective of these above-mentioned factors. 

The 80% increase in the Group’s other expenses is 
mainly attributable to the exploration expenses incurred in 
PetroSA Gryphon Marin and PetroSA Egypt. 

The Group recorded a pre-tax profit of R1.52 billion for 
continuing operations, which reflects a decrease of 38% 
on the prior year profit of R2.46 billion. Brass Exploration 
Unlimited has been classified as a discontinuing operation 
and reflects a profit of R0.44 billion (2008: R0.11billion) 
net of taxation. 
The Group’s balance sheet remains strong, with total 

2. Secretary

3. Nature of business

4. Review of financial position 
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assets of R23.7 billion (2008: R23.3 billion). A cash balance 
of R11.3 billion (2008: R11.9 billion) versus a long-term 
loan of R0.02 billion (2008: R0.11billion) reflects the 
Group’s strong net cash position. 

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out 
in note 14 to the annual financial statements. There have 
been no changes to the share capital of any of the other 
Group companies during the year under review. 

A dividend of R725 million was declared, of which R350 
million was paid during the financial year (2008: R425 
million) and R375 million is still to be paid but accrued for. 

A materiality and significant framework has been 
developed for reporting losses through criminal conduct 
and irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as well as 
for significant transactions envisaged per section 54 (2) of 
the PFMA that requires Ministerial approval. The framework 
was finalised after consultation with the external auditors 
and has been formally approved by the Board. 

During this financial year a loss of R4 000 was experienced 
in the petty cash office due to theft, and R193 892 was 
paid to the Receiver of Revenue for penalties and interest 
incurred. PetroSA also incurred a penalty for late payment 
of cargo dues for the amount of R1 200 and interest for late 
payment of invoices of R903 761. A further R2 660 207 was 
incurred for penalties and interest relating to cargo dues 
in terms of the provisions of the Service Level Agreement 
between SFF and PetroSA. 

A contract that was budgeted for was signed by an 
employee outside of his authorised limit of authority, in 
contravention of company policy, and therefore irregular. 
The value of the contract was R600 000 and the contract 
was subsequently ratified by management. 

The Company’s holding company is CEF (Proprietary) 
Limited incorporated in South Africa and the ultimate 
Shareholder is the South African Government. All shares 
held by the Government in CEF are not transferable in 
terms of the Central Energy Fund Act (Act No. 37 of 1977). 

The PetroSA Group structure is growing at a rapid rate, 
with the growth mostly driven by the Company’s pursuit 
of exploration and production opportunities in Africa and 
elsewhere in line with its objectives. The companies within 
the Group are subsidiaries whose existence is driven by 
business needs.

The Brass Exploration Unlimited (BEU) financial year-end 
is 31 December in accordance with Nigerian legislation, 
which is not in compliance with the PFMA requirements. 
The Group results include the performance of BEU for the 
year ended 31 December 2008. During this financial year 
a Board decision was taken to dispose of BEU, and in 
terms of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS 5) the results and performance of this company have 
been reflected as a discontinuing operation in the Group 
financial statements. 

The company Salima Petroleum Operating Company was 
incorporated in Mauritius during the previous financial 
year, with PetroSA holding 80% of its share capital with 
the Sudanese national petroleum company holding the 

5. Authorised and issued share capital

6. Dividends 

7. Materiality and significant framework 

8. Holding company 

9. Subsidiaries and associates 
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remaining 20%. The share capital was to be issued in 
the 2009 financial year. A Board decision was taken 
to divest from this joint venture and the company 
was disposed of to the Sudanese national petroleum 
company for Rnil consideration. A loan of R219 million 
made by PetroSA Sudan to Salima has been written 
 off in the accounts of PetroSA Sudan. In the  
accounts of PetroSA a loan of R253 million made to 
PetroSA Sudan has been impaired. Refer to notes 7 
and 10 of the financial statements. 

PetroSA has a 37.5% interest in the associate company 
GTL.F1 AG, a Swiss incorporated technology company 
that holds the licences of the GTL technology. The 
Group results include the performance of GTL.F1 AG 
for the year ended 31 December 2008. 

During the financial year PetroSA sold its 30% interest 
in Sud Chemie Zeolites (Pty) Ltd, a South African 
incorporated company. The Group results include the 
performance of Sud Chemie until the disposal date 
thereof. 

This accounting treatment is permitted by International 
Accounting Standard 27 paragraphs 26 and 27. The 
details of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

During June 2009 PetroSA successfully obtained 
the re-classification of two of its products from South 
African Revenue Service (SARS) for Duty At Source 
(DAS) purposes. As a result of this re-classification 
PetroSA will be able to recover duties paid over the 
past two years to the amount of R44 million. 

The directors believe that the Group will continue as a 
going concern in the year ahead. 

Director                 Director

Cape Town
15 July 2009

10. Post balance sheet events 

11. Going concern 
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The Board Audit Committee has adopted appropriate 
formal terms of reference, which have been confirmed by 
the Board, and has performed its responsibilities as set 
out in the terms of reference. 

1.  Responsibilities 
In performing its responsibilities the Board Audit 
Committee has reviewed the following: 
l  The effectiveness of the internal control systems; 
l  The effectiveness of the internal audit function; 
l  The risk areas of the Group’s operations to be 
 covered in the scope of the internal and external
 audits;
l  The adequacy, reliability and accuracy of financial
 information provided to management and other 
 users of such information; 
l  The accounting and auditing concerns identified as 
 a result of the internal or external audits; 
l  The Group’s compliance with applicable legal and 
 regulatory provisions; 
l  The activities of the internal audit function, 
 including its annual work programme, coordination 
 with the  external auditors, reports of significant 
 investigations 
 and the responses of management to specific 
 recommendations; and
l  The independence and objectivity of the external  
 auditors; 

The Board Audit Committee is of the opinion, based on 
the information and explanations given by management 

and the Internal Audit Department, that the internalaccounting 
controls are adequate to ensure that the financial records may 
be relied upon for preparing the financial statements, and 
accountability for assets and liabilities is maintained. 

Nothing has come to the attention of the audit committee to 
indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of 
these controls, procedures and systems has occurred during 
the period under review. 

Having reviewed and evaluated the financial statements of 
PetroSA and the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009, 
the members of the Board Audit Committee believe that the 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
Company, its business, financial results, performance against 
predetermined objectives and its financial position at the end 
of the financial year and conclude that they comply, in all 
material respects, with the requirements of the Companies 
Act (Act 61 of 1973, as amended), the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999, as amended) and South 
African Statements of GAAP. 

The Board Audit Committee concurs that the adoption of the 
going concern premise is appropriate in preparing the financial 
statements. 

The Board Audit Committee has recommended the adoption 
of the financial statements by the Board of Directors at their 
meeting on 20 July 2009. 

Chairman 

15 July 2009 

Ms C W N Molope 
Prof B Figaji 
Mr M Kajee

2. Legal and regulatory compliance 
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The criteria for assessing the materiality and significant framework for The Petroleum Oil And Gas Corporation of South Africa (Pty) Ltd are 
contained in the table below:

Qualitative Quantitative
1.  Material disclosure of information to the Minister

Disclosure by the PetroSA
Board of material facts to the
Minister of Minerals and Energy.

Facts that may influence the decisions or actions of 
the stakeholders of a public entity.

Risks to the public entity that may impact on 
the future sustainability of the entity or the 
group.

2.  Annual Report, Financial Statement and Executive Authority disclosures

Material losses Criminal conduct:
Expenditure that results from an illegal act, 
fraudulent act and/or a criminal behaviour. All 
instances will be fully disclosed to the Board Audit 
Committee.Disclosures in the annual report and the 
financial statements will be made for all losses due 
to criminal conduct. 

Irregular expenditure:
Other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with 
the requirements of any applicable legislation.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure:
Made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure

All expenditure

All expenditure

3. Borrowings, guarantee, indemnity or security

Borrowings, guarantees, indemnity or security must 
be approved by the Board.

Materiality and Significant Framework
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Qualitative Quantitative
4.  Approval from the executive authority on participation in certain transactions

Significant partnership Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when capital at risk for PetroSA exceeds 2% of 
total assets.

> R 475 000 000

PetroSA development trust
Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when funding of the trust exceeds 2% of total 
assets of PetroSA.

> R 475 000 000

Significant unincorporated
joint venture

Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when venture capital at risk for PetroSA exceeds 
2% of total assets.

> R 475 000 000

Significant shareholding Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when acquisition and disposal of shareholding in 
a trading company in which PetroSA’s investment 
exceeds 2% of total assets.

> R 475 000 000

Significant assets Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when acquisition and disposal of any immovable 
property such as land, buildings and moveable 
assets when the cost exceeds 2% of the total 
assets of PetroSA.

> R 475 000 000

Significant business 
Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when commencement and cessation of a business 
activity represents or will represent more than 2% 
of PetroSA’s total assets.

> R 475 000 000

Significant change Approval from the executive authority is needed 
when engaging in new business that is unrelated 
to the business and where the investment exceeds 
2% of total assets.

> R 475 000 000
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In my capacity as Company Secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 268 G (d) of the Companies Act, 1973, that for the year 
ended, 31 March 2009, the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a company in 
terms of this Act, and that all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

Secretary

15 July 2009

Statement from Company Secretary
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           Group                Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Note(s) R ‘000 
Restated 

R ‘000  R ‘000 
Restated 

R ‘000 
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 2 6,148,585) 4,871,427) 6,143,630) 4,867,849)
Intangible assets 3 83,159) 79,256) 3,997) 94)
Assets pending determination 4 54,793) 54,793) 54,793) 54,793)
Deferred tax 16 80,964) -) 80,964) -)
Investments in subsidiaries 5 -) -) 5,652) 2,137)
Investments in associates 6 -) 11,019) 23,490) 31,123)
Other financial assets 7 133,928) 133,406) 1,600,981) 889,097)
Amounts held by holding company 8 537,648) 537,648) 537,648) 537,648)

7,039,077) 5,687,549) 8,451,155 6,382,741)

Current assets
Inventories 9 1,500,418) 1,847,577) 1,398,921) 1,847,577)
Loans to Group companies 10 -) 89,261) 3,206) -)
Current tax receivable 412) -) -) -)
Trade and other receivables 11 1,794,653) 2,174,128) 1,751,847) 2,228,764)
Cash and cash equivalents 12 11,314,712) 11,932,036) 11,226,557) 11,833,490)

14,610,195) 16,043,002) 14,380,531) 15,909,831)
Assets held for sale and assets of disposal groups 13 2,052,302) 1,564,096) -) -)

Total assets 23,701,574) 23,294,647) 22,831,686) 22,292,572)

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 14 2,755,936) 2,755,936) 2,755,936) 2,755,936)
Reserves 76,874) 17,640) (7,718) (7,718)
Retained income 13,493,840) 12,261,275) 14,020,851) 12,522,399)

16,326,650) 15,034,851) 16,769,069) 15,270,617)

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans from shareholder 15 23,623 105,149 23,623 105,149
Deferred tax 16 - 307,060 - 307,060
Provisions 17 3,908,711 3,734,782 3,885,953 3,714,550

3,932,334 4,146,991 3,909,576 4,126,759

Current liabilities
Loans from shareholder 15 101,008 90,134 101,008 90,134
Current tax payable 82,146 337,906 82,123 336,826
Trade and other payables 18 1,635,083 2,265,250 1,491,185 2,172,736
Provisions 17 103,725 90,500 103,725 90,500
Dividend payable 375,000 205,000 375,000 205,000

2,296,962 2,988,790 2,153,041 2,895,196
Liabilities held for sale and liabilities of disposal groups 13 1,145,628 1,124,015 - -
Total liabilities 7,374,924 8,259,796 6,062,617 7,021,955
Total equity and liabilities  23,701,574 23,294,647 22,831,686 22,292,572

Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2009
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           Group                Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Note(s) R ‘000 
Restated 

R ‘000  R ‘000 
Restated 

R ‘000  

Revenue 19 12,116,831 10,283,425 12,116,814 10,283,291
Cost of sales (9,553,246) (7,681,551) (9,541,822) (7,597,908)
Gross profit 2,563,585 2,601,874 2,574,992 2,685,383
Other income 166,723 325,384 187,272 326,921
Operating expenses (2,518,632) (1,360,742) (2,019,409) (1,345,272)
Operating profit 20 211,676 1,566,516 742,855 1,667,032
Investment revenue 22 1,550,172 1,168,373 1,716,596 1,267,828
Loss from equity accounted investments (2,413) (14,590) - -
Finance costs 23 (238,174) (256,815) (238,174) (256,807)
Profit before taxation 1,521,261 2,463,484 2,221,277 2,678,053
Taxation 25 (539) (665,708) 2,175 (664,310)
Profit for the year from continuing 1,520,722 1,797,776 2,223,452 2,013,743
operations
Profit from discontinued operations 436,843 107,568 - -
Profit for the year 1,957,565 1,905,344 2,223,452 2,013,743

Income Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Total share 
capital

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
income Total equity

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Group
Opening balance as previously reported 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 (440) 10,741,650 13,497,146
Prior year adjustments (Refer to note 36) - - - - 39,281 39,281
Balance at 1 April 2007 as restated 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 (440) 10,780,931 13,536,427
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve - - - 18,080 - 18,080
Profit for the year - - - - 1,905,344 1,905,344
Dividends - - - - (425,000) (425,000)
Total changes - - - 18,080 1,480,344 1,498,424
Balance at 1 April 2008 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 17,640 12,261,275 15,034,851
Profit for the year - - - - 1,957,565 1,957,565
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve - - - 59,234 - 59,234
Dividends - - - - (725,000) (725,000)
Total changes - - - 59,234 1,232,565 1,291,799
Balance at 31 March 2009 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 76,874 13,493,840 16,326,650
Note(s) 14 14 14

Company
Opening balance as previously reported 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 (7,718) 10,764,245 13,512,463
Prior period adjustments (Refer to note 36) - - - - 169,411 169,411
Balance at 1 April 2007 as restated 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 (7,718) 10,933,656 13,681,874
Profit for the year - - - - 2,013,743 2,013,743
Dividends - - - - (425,000) (425,000)
Total changes - - - - 1,588,743 1,588,743
Balance at 1 April 2008 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 (7,718) 12,522,399 15,270,617
Profit for the year - - - - 2,223,452 2,223,452
Dividends - - - - (725,000) (725,000)
Total changes - - - - 1,498,452 1,498,452
Balance at 31 March 2009 2 2,755,934 2,755,936 (7,718) 14,020,851 16,769,069
Note(s) 14 14 14

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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           Group                Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Note(s) R ‘000 
Restated 

R ‘000  R ‘000 
Restated 

R ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 26 1,083,232 2,448,541 1,734,805 2,137,946
Interest income 1,550,172 1,167,503 1,716,596 1,266,958
Dividends received - 870 - 870
Dividends paid 27 (555,000) (220,000) (555,000) (220,000)
Finance costs (14,724) (22,996) (14,724) (22,988)
Tax paid 28 (644,735) (5,783) (640,552) (5,465)
Cash flows of held for sale / discontinued 29 (29,750) (332,513) - -
operations

Net cash from operating activities 1,389,195 3,035,622 2,241,125 3,157,321

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (1,931,037) (1,166,497) (1,927,519) (1,162,848)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 2 29,861 72 29,861 72
Purchase of other intangible assets 3 (3,693) - (3,693) -
Loans to group companies repaid (220,605) - (254,932) -
Loans (advanced to)/paid by group 89,261 (89,261) (3,206) -
companies
Purchase of financial assets (522) (51,378) (711,884) (328,223)
Cash flow from equity accounted associates 11,019 14,590 7,633 -
Cash flow from subsidiaries  - - (3,515) -
Net cash from investing activities (2,025,716) (1,292,474) (2,867,255) (1,490,999)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of shareholder loan (26,061) (49,167) (26,061) (49,167)
Net cash from financing activities (26,061) (49,167) (26,061) (49,167)

Total cash movement for the year (662,582) 1,693,981 (652,191) 1,617,155
Cash at the beginning of the year 11,932,036 10,183,741 11,833,490 10,162,021
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash 45,258 54,314 45,258 54,314
balances
Total cash at end of the year 12 11,314,712 11,932,036 11,226,557 11,833,490

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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The following are the principal accounting policies used 
by the Group which are, in all material respects, consistent 
with those of the previous year, except as otherwise 
indicated:

1.1 Basis of preparation 
Accounting framework 

The Group and Company annual financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with South African Statements 
of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and the 
Companies Act of South Africa. 

The annual financial statements are prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except where otherwise specified. 

1.2 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
annual financial statements of the entity and enterprises 
controlled by the entity as at 31 March each year. 

Control is achieved where the entity has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an investee 
enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant 
subsidiaries are measured at their fair values at the 
effective date of acquisition. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated income 
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to 
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the annual 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used in line with the Group accounting policies. 

All significant inter-entity transactions, unrealised profit 
and losses and balances between Group enterprises are 
eliminated on consolidation. 

The most recent audited annual financial statements of 

associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries are used where 
available, which are all within three months of the year-end 
of the Group. Adjustments are made to the financial results 
for material transactions and events in the intervening 
period. Losses in excess of the Group’s interest are 
not recognised unless there is a binding obligation to 
contribute to the losses. 

Company financial statements 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
in the financial statements presented by the Company are 
recognised at cost, except where there is a permanent 
decline in the value, in which case they are written down 
to fair value. 

Consolidated financial statements 
Interest in subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the holding 
company. The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and 
cash flows of the company and all entities controlled by 
the company as if they are a single economic entity. 

Interest in associates 

An associate is an enterprise in which the group has 
significant influence, through participation in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but not 
control. The results and assets and liabilities of associates 
are incorporated in the financial statements by using the 
equity method of accounting.

Interest in joint ventures 

A joint venture is a contractual agreement between two 
or more parties to undertake an economic activity, which 
is under joint control. Investments in jointly controlled 
entities are accounted for by way of the proportionate 
consolidation method whereby the group’s proportionate 
share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the 
joint venture are combined, on a line by line basis, with 
similar items in the financial statements of the Group. 
All significant inter-company transactions and balances 
between group entities are eliminated on proportionate 
consolidation to the extent of the group’s interest in the joint 
venture. 

1. Presentation of annual financial  
    statements

Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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1.3 Translation of foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are recognised, initially in 
Rand, by applying the foreign currency amount to the 
exchange rate between the Rand, and the foreign currency 
at the date of the transaction, and is restated at each 
reporting date by using the ruling exchange rate at that 
date. 

Balance sheet 

At each balance sheet date: 
l  Foreign currency monetary items are translated 
 using the closing rate; 
l  Non-monetary items that measured in terms 
 of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
 translated using the exchange rate at the date of 
 the transaction; and 
l  Non-monetary items that measured at fair value in
  a foreign currency are translated using 
 the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
 value was determined. 

Exchange differences 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items or on reporting a company’s monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were initially recorded 
during the period, or reported in previous annual financial 
statements, are recognised as income or expenses in 
the period in which they arise. Exchange differences 
are capitalised where they relate to the purchase or 
construction of property, plant and equipment. 

Foreign entities 

In translating the financial statements of a foreign entity 
for incorporation in the group financial statements, the 
following is applied: 

(a) The assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-
monetary, of the foreign entity are translated at the 
closing exchange rate at the financial year end date. 

(b) Income and expense items of the foreign entity are 
translated at the weighted average rates of exchange 
for the year. 

(c) All resulting exchange differences are taken directly 
to the foreign currency translation reserve, which is 
classified as a non-distributable reserve. On disposal 
the related amount in this reserve will be recognised 
in profit or loss. 

1.4 Post-balance sheet events 

Recognised amounts in the annual financial statements are 
adjusted to reflect events arising after the balance sheet 
date that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the 
balance sheet date. Events after the balance sheet that are 
indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet 
date are dealt with by way of a note. 

1.5 Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are restated in the event of a change 
in accounting policy or prior period error.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment represents tangible items 
that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes 
and are expected to be used during more than one period. 

Carrying amounts 

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Cost 

Cost includes all costs directly attributable to bringing 
the assets to working condition for their intended use. 
Improvements are capitalised. Maintenance, repairs and 
renewals that neither materially add to the value of assets 
nor appreciably prolong their useful lives are charged 
against income. 

Finance costs directly associated with the construction or 
acquisition of major assets are capitalised at interest rates 
relating to loans specifically raised for that purpose, or 
at the average borrowing rate where the general pool of 
borrowings is utilised. 
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1.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Disposals 

Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are determined by reference to their carrying 
amount. On disposal of revalued assets, amounts in the 
revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to 
retained earnings.

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the depreciable 
amount of the assets, other than land, over their estimated 
useful lives to estimated residual values, using the straight 
line method to write off the cost of each asset that reflects 
the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits 
are expected to be consumed by the entity. 

Where significant parts of an item have different useful 
lives to the item itself, these parts are depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives. 

The useful life of the assets was reviewed annually. 

The following methods and rates were used during the 
year to depreciate property, plant and equipment to 
estimated residual values: 
Item     Average useful 
life 
Land     Not depreciated 
Buildings    40 years 
Furniture, fittings and   2-10 years
communication equipment 
Motor vehicles    4-5 years 
Computer equipment   3-6 years 

An exception is made for production assets and restoration 
costs where the units of production method is used to 
calculate depreciation. Reference to the supplementary 
reserve disclosure can be made for more information on 
the reserves used. 

Improvements to leased premises are written off over the 
period of the lease. 

The methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed annually. 

Production assets (oil and gas fields) 

Subsequent expenditure, which enhances or extends 
the performance of property, plant and equipment 
beyond their original specifications, is recognised as 
capital expenditure and added to the original cost of 
the asset. 

Production assets, which represent the capitalised 
share of total expenditure on the exploration, appraisal 
and development of oil and gas fields, are depreciated 
over their expected useful lives. This applies from the 
date production commences, on a unit of production 
basis, using the proved and probable developed 
reserves recoverable from these fields.

The carrying amount in respect of each field (reservoir) 
is reviewed for impairment at each balance sheet date. 
For evaluated fields, the net carrying amounts are 
compared to the estimated net revenues to be derived 
from the related proved and probable reserves of oil 
and gas within that field. Evaluated fields and other 
assets for which carrying amounts are not expected to 
be fully recovered are written down to their recoverable 
amounts. 

Restoration costs 

Cost of property, plant and equipment also includes the 
estimated costs of dismantling and removing the assets 
and site rehabilitation costs. 

Estimated decommissioning and restoration costs are 
based on current requirements, technology and price 
levels. Provision is made for all net estimated restoration 
costs as soon as an obligation to rehabilitate the area 
exists, based on the present value of the future estimated 
costs. These costs are deferred and are depreciated over 
the useful lives of the assets to which they relate using 
the unit of production method based on the same reserve 
quantities as are used for the calculation of depletion of oil 
and gas production assets. 

An additional restoration provision charge will be made 
to income annually, based on the risk-free rate of return. 
Changes in estimates of reserve quantities and restoration 
costs are recognised prospectively. 

Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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1.7 Exploration, evaluation and development of 
oil and gas wells 

The “successful efforts” principle is used to account for oil and 
gas exploration and evaluation activities. 

Pre-licensing cost 

These are costs incurred prior to the acquisition of a legal right 
to explore for oil and gas. They may include speculative seismic 
data and subsequent geological and geophysical analysis of this 
data, but may not be exclusive to such costs. If such analysis 
suggests the presence of reserves, then the costs are capitalised 
to an identified structure (field or reservoir). However, if the 
analysis is not definitive then these costs are expensed in the year 
they are incurred. 

Exploration and evaluation costs 

All costs relating to the acquisition of licences, exploration and 
evaluation of a well, field or exploration area are capitalised 
and reflected as an intangible asset, if potential reserves are 
discovered. 

Assets pending determination 

Exploratory wells that discover potentially commercial reserves 
are capitalised pending a decision to further develop or a firm 
plan to develop has been approved. These wells may remain 
capitalised for three years. If no such plan or development exists 
or information is obtained that raises doubt about the economic or 
operating viability then these costs will be recognised in the profit 
or loss of that year. If a plan or intention to further develop these 
wells or fields exists, the costs are transferred to development 
costs.

Development costs 

Costs of development wells, platforms, well equipment and 
attendant production facilities are capitalised. The cost of 
production facilities capitalised includes finance costs incurred 
until the production facility is completed and ready for the start of 
the production phase. All development wells are not depreciated 
until production starts and then they are depreciated on the units 
of production method calculated using the estimated proved 
reserves. 

Dry wells 

Geological and geophysical costs, as well as all other costs 
relating to dry exploratory wells, are recognised in the profit and 
loss in the year they are incurred. 

1.8 Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without 
physical substance. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost if acquired 
separately or internally generated or at fair value if acquired 
as part of a business combination. If assessed as having an 
indefinite useful life, the intangible asset is not amortised but 
tested for impairment annually and impaired if necessary. If 
assessed as having a finite useful life, it is amortised over its 
useful life using a straight line basis and tested for impairment if 
there is an indication that it may be impaired. 

Research costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Development costs are capitalised only if they result in an asset 
that can be identified, and it is probable that the asset will 
generate future economic benefits and the development costs 
can be reliably measured. Otherwise it is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a 
straight line basis, to their residual values as follows: 

Item    Useful life 
Software    3 years 

1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each balance sheet date, the group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. 
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount for 
an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. Value in use is 
estimated taking into acount future cash flows, forecast market 
conditions and the expected lives of the assets.
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1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) 
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, its carrying 
amount is reduced to the higher of its recoverable amount 
and zero. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Subsequent to the recognition of the impairment loss, the 
depreciation or amortisation charge for the asset is adjusted to 
allocate its remaining carrying value, less any residual value, 
over its remaining useful life.

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount but limited to 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had an 
impairment loss not been recognised in prior years. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

1.10 Leases 

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at the 
lower of the fair value of the assets and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments at the date of the acquisition. 
Finance costs represent the difference between the total 
leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired. 
Finance costs are charged to the profit and loss over the term 
of the lease at the interest rates applicable to the lease on the 
remaining balance of the obligation. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are recognised in profit 
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease 
where significant or another basis if more representative of the 
time pattern of the user’s benefit. 

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor 
by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which termination takes place. 

Contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss as they accrue. 

1.11 Inventories 
Trading inventory 

Finished and intermediate inventory is measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value according to the weighted average 

method. Cost includes production expenditure, depreciation and 
a proportion of triennial turnaround expenses and replacement 
of catalysts, as well as transport and handling costs. No account 
is taken of the value of raw materials and work in progress prior 
to it reaching intermediate storage tanks. Provision is made for 
obsolete, slow moving and defective inventories. 

Spares, catalysts and chemical 

These inventories are measured at the lower of cost, using 
the weighted average basis less appropriate provision for 
obsolescence in arriving at the net realisable value. 

1.12 Financial instruments 
Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Group and Company’s balance sheet when the Company and 
Group become a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

Financial assets and liabilities as a result of firm commitments 
are only recognised when one of the parties has performed 
under the contract. 

Financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet include 
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments, trade 
payables and borrowings. 

Measurement 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, 
plus transaction costs. However transaction costs of financial 
assets and liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss 
are expensed. Subsequent measurement will depend on the 
classification of the financial instrument as detailed below. 

Financial assets 

The Group’s principal financial assets are investments and loans 
receivable, accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents. 

Investments 

The following categories of investments are measured at 
subsequent reporting dates at amortised cost by using the 
effective interest rate method: 

Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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(a) Loans and receivables originated by the group with fixed 
maturities; 

(b) Held-to-maturity investments; and
(c) An investment that does not have a quoted market price in 

an active market and whose fair value cannot be measured 
reliably using an appropriate valuation model. 

Loans and receivables with no fixed maturity period and other 
investments not covered above are classified as fair value 
through profit and loss on initial recognition. Fair value for this 
purpose, is market value if listed or a value derived by using an 
appropriate valuation model, if unlisted.

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts. An estimate 
for impairment is made when objective evidence is available 
that indicates the collection of any amount outstanding is no 
longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand 
and instruments that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value. 

Financial liabilities 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities are interest bearing 
borrowings, accounts payable and bank overdraft. 

All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, 
comprising original debt less principal payments and 
amortisations, except for financial liabilities held for trading and 
derivative liabilities, which are subsequently measured at fair 
value. A change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate swap 
contracts and forward foreign exchange contracts, are used by 
the Group and Company in its management of financial risks. 
Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair 
value on the contract date, and are re-measured to fair value at 

subsequent reporting dates. 
Payments and receipts under interest rate swap contracts are 
recognised in the profit and loss on a basis consistent with the 
corresponding fluctuations in the interest payment on floating 
rate financial liabilities. 

The carrying amounts of interest rate swaps, which comprise 
net interest receivables and payables accrued are included in 
assets and liabilities respectively. 

Gains and losses on subsequent measurement 

All gains and losses arising from a change in fair value of or on 
disposal of held for trading financial assets are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of 
available for sale financial assets are recognised in equity, until 
the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, 
at which time the gain or loss is included in the profit or loss for 
the period. 

Gains and losses arising from cash flow hedges are recognised 
in profit or loss. 

In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the conditions 
for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on a 
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge 
is recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion is 
recognised in profit and loss. 

If a hedged firm commitment or forecasted transaction results in 
the recognition of an asset or a liability, then the associated 
gains or losses recognised in equity are adjusted against the 
initial measurement of the asset or liability. For all other cash 
flow hedges, amounts recognised in equity are included in profit 
or loss in the same period during which the commitment or 
forecasted transaction affects profit or loss.

Derecognition 

A financial asset or part thereof is derecognised when the group 
realises the contractual rights to the benefits specified in the 
contract, the rights expire, the group surrenders those rights or 
otherwise loses control of the contractual rights that comprise 
the financial asset. On derecognition, the difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of the 
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1.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

proceeds receivable, and any prior adjustment to reflect the fair 
value of the asset that had been reported in equity is included in 
net profit or loss for the period. 

A financial liability or a part thereof is derecognised when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability, including related unamortised 
costs, and the amount paid for it is included in net profit or loss 
for the period. 

Fair value considerations 

The fair values at which financial instruments are carried at the 
balance sheet date have been determined using available market 
prices. Where market prices are not available, fair values have 
been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at 
prevailing interest rates. The fair values have been estimated 
using available market information and appropriate valuation 
methodologies, but are not necessarily indicative of the amounts 
that the group could realise in the normal course of business. The 
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities with a 
maturity of less than one year are assumed to approximate their 
fair values due to the short term trading cycle of these items. 

Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset if there is an intention to 
either net the asset and liability or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously and a legally enforceable right to set 
off exists. 

1.13 Post-employment benefit costs 
Defined contribution costs 

Contributions to a defined contribution plan in respect of service 
in a particular period are recognised as an expense in that 
period. 

Defined benefit costs 

Current service costs in respect of defined benefit plans are 
recognised as an expense in the current period. 
Past service costs, experience adjustments, the effects of 
changes in actuarial assumptions and the effects of plan 

amendments in respect of existing employees in a defined benefit 
plan are recognised in profit or loss systematically over the 
remaining work lives of those employees (except in the case of 
shorter plan amendments where the use of a shorter time period 
is necessary to reflect the economic benefits by the enterprise). 

The effects of plan amendments in respect of retired employees 
in a benefit plan are measured as the present value of the effect 
of the amended benefits, and are recognised as an expense or 
as income in the period in which the plan amendment is made. 

The cost of providing retirement benefits under a defined benefit 
plan is determined using a projected unit credit valuation method. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income or expense 
in profit or loss immediately. 

The Group operates both defined contribution and defined 
benefit plans, the assets of which are held in separate trustee 
administered funds. The plans are funded by payments from the 
Group and employees, taking account of the recommendations 
of independent qualified actuaries. For defined benefit plans the 
defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost, and 
where applicable, the past service costs are determined by using 
the projected unit credit method.

Other post-employment obligations 

Post-employment healthcare benefits are provided to retirees. 
The entitlement to post retirement healthcare benefits is based 
on the employees remaining in service up to retirement age. The 
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment, using an accounting methodology similar to that for 
defined benefit pension plans. Valuations of these obligations are 
carried out annually by independent qualified actuaries. 

1.14 Provisions and contingencies 

Provisions represent liabilities of uncertain timing or amounts. 

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made for the 
amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the expenditure required to settle 

Accounting Policies
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the present obligation. Where the effect of discounting is 
material, provisions are measured at their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risks for which future cash flow estimates have not been 
adjusted. 

Provision for the cost of environmental and other remedial 
work such as reclamation costs, close down and restoration 
costs is made when such expenditure is probable and the 
cost can be estimated with a reasonable range of possible 
outcomes. 

1.15 Revenue 

Revenue from the rendering of services is measured using 
the stage of completion method based on the services 
performed to date as a percentage of the total services to 
be performed. Revenue from the rendering of services is 
recognised when the amount of the revenue, the related costs 
and the stage of completion can be measured reliably and 
when it is probable that the debtor will pay for the services. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 
are transferred, when delivery has been made and title has 
passed, when the amount of the revenue and the related 
costs can be reliably measured and when it is probable that 
the debtor will pay for the goods. 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and these 
benefits can be measured reliably. The measurement is at the 
fair value received or receivable net of VAT, cash discounts, 
rebates and settlement discounts. 

1.16 Cost of sales 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount is recognised 
as part of cost of sales. Any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value and all losses of inventories or reversals of 
previous write-downs or losses are recognised in cost of 
sales in the period the write-down, loss or reversal occurs.  

1.17 Income from investments 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the 

principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable. 
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the 
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established. 

1.18 Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities 

The charge for current tax is based on the results for the 
year as adjusted for income that is exempt and expenses not 
deductible using tax rates that are applicable to the taxable 
income. 

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, 
unless specifically exempt, at the tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Certain income earned from the State is exempt from tax. 

Deferred tax assets 

A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised, unless 
specifically exempt. It is measured at the tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted at balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax liability 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary 
differences, unless specifically exempt, at the tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures is recognised except where 
the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

1.19 Finance costs 

Interest costs incurred on financing of major projects are 
capitalised until the project is substantially completed or 
ready for its intended use. 

Other finance costs are recognised as an expense when 
incurred. 
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1.20 Government grants 

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods 
necessary to match them with the related costs that they are 
intended to compensate. 

1.21 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure 

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in 
contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of 
any applicable legislation, including 
l  the PFMA or 
l  any provisional legislation providing for procurement 
 procedures in that provincial government. 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure made in 
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised. 

Any irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged 
against income in the period in which it is incurred.

1.22 Statements and interpretations 
New accounting policies adopted 

The Group has adopted IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure. The impact of this new standard has resulted in the 
increased disclosure relating to the significance of the financial 
instruments on the financial position and performance and 
the nature and extent of the risk arising from these financial 
instruments to which it is exposed during the period and at 
year–end and the manner in which it manages these risks. 

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted 

The following accounting standards, interpretations and 

amendments to the published accounting standards which 
are relevant to PetroSA, but not yet effective, have not been 
adopted in the current year: 
l  IFRS 3 Business combinations 
l  IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements 
l  IAS 23 Borrowing costs 
l  IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial 
 statements 
l  IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

The effect of the adoption of these standards, interpretations 
and amendments relate mainly to wording and additional 
disclosure in the financial statements. The adoption of the 
above listed standards will have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in the period of initial 
application. 

1.23 Key assumptions made by management 
in applying accounting policies 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In preparing the annual financial statements in terms of SA 
GAAP, the Group’s management is required to make certain 
estimates and assumptions that may materially affect reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the annual 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reported period and the related 
disclosures. As these estimates and assumptions concern 
future events, due to the inherent uncertainty involved in this 
process, the actual results often vary from the estimates. These 
estimates and judgements are based on historical experience, 
current and expected future economic conditions and other 
factors, including expectations of future events believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Accounting Policies
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Figures in Rand thousand 

2.  Property, plant and equipment
Group 2009 2008

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value 

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Land 16,715 - 16,715 12,153 - 12,153
Production assets 18,544,919 (15,161,028) 3,383,891 18,313,107 (14,973,710) 3,339,397
Furniture, fittings, office equipment and vehicles 541,332 (282,637) 258,695 442,358 (206,743) 235,615
Restoration costs 637,122 (557,684) 79,438 793,789 (481,161) 312,628
Shutdown costs capitalised 365,486 (365,486) - 371,218 (239,629) 131,589
Assets under development 2,409,846 - 2,409,846 840,045 - 840,045
Total 22,515,420 (16,366,835) 6,148,585 20,772,670 (15,901,243) 4,871,427

Company 2009 2008
Cost / 

Valuation
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value 

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Land 16,715 - 16,715 12,153 - 12,153
Production assets 18,544,919 (15,161,028) 3,383,891 18,313,107 (14,973,710) 3,339,397
Furniture, fittings, office equipment and vehicles 533,790 (280,050) 253,740 438,330 (206,293) 232,037
Restoration costs 637,122 (557,684) 79,438 793,789 (481,161) 312,628
Shutdown costs capitalised 365,486 (365,486) - 371,218 (239,629) 131,589
Assets under development 2,409,846 - 2,409,846 840,045 - 840,045
Total 22,507,878 (16,364,248) 6,143,630 20,768,642 (15,900,793) 4,867,849

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Figures in Rand thousand 

2.  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2009

Opening 
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Revaluations 

Other 
changes, 

movements Depreciation Total

Land 12,153 4,562 - - - - - 16,715
Production assets 3,339,397 1,415 (24,029) 254,430 - - (187,322) 3,383,891
Furniture, fittings, office 
equipment and vehicles 235,615 100,829 (100) (338) - - (77,311) 258,695
Restoration costs 312,628 - - - 33,672 (232,246) (34,616) 79,438
Shutdown costs capitalised 131,589 - (5,732) - - - (125,857) -
Assets under development 840,045 1,824,231 - (254,430) - - - 2,409,846

4,871,427 1,931,037 (29,861) (338) 33,672 (232,246) (425,106) 6,148,585

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2008

Opening 
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Revaluations 

Other 
changes, 

movements Depreciation Total

Land 12,153 - - - - - - 12,153
Production assets 1,933,718 510,176 - 1,339,808 - - (444,305) 3,339,397
Furniture, fittings, office 
equipment and vehicles 44,629 212,028 (72) (20) - - (20,950) 235,615
Restoration costs 271,731 - - - 260,035 43,106 (262,244) 312,628
Shutdown costs capitalised 236,601 16,317 - - - - (121,329) 131,589
Assets under development 1,751,877 427,976 - (1,339,808) - - - 840,045

4,250,709 1,166,497 (72) (20) 260,035 43,106 (848,828) 4,871,427

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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A register containing the information required by paragraph 22 (3) of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act is available for
inspection at the registered office of the Company.

Restoration expenditure relates to the provision for restoration costs and is amortised on a units-of-production basis over the 
expected useful life of the reserves. The Minerals Act of 1991 requires that amounts for abandonment be set aside as prescribed in 
the Act. The restoration fund requirement has been met through the issue of a guarantee by CEF (Proprietary) Limited.

Figures in Rand thousand 

2.  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 2009

Opening 
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Revaluations 

Other 
changes, 

movements Depreciation Total

Land 12,153 4,562 - - - - - 16,715
Production assets 3,339,397 1,415 (24,029) 254,430 - - (187,322) 3,383,891
Furniture, fittings, office 
equipment and vehicles 232,037 97,311 (100) (338) - - (75,170) 253,740
Restoration costs 312,628 - - - 33,672 (232,246) (34,616) 79,438
Shutdown costs capitalised 131,589 - (5,732) - - - (125,857) -
Assets under development 840,045 1,824,231 - (254,430) - - - 2,409,846

4,867,849 1,927,519 (29,861) (338) 33,672 (232,246) (422,965) 6,143,630

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 2008

Opening 
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Revaluations 

Other 
changes, 

movements Depreciation Total

Land 12,153 - - - - - - 12,153
Production assets 1,933,718 510,176 - 1,339,808 - - (444,305) 3,339,397
Furniture, fittings, office 
equipment and vehicles 44,349 208,379 (72) (20) - - (20,599) 232,037
Restoration costs 271,731 - - - 260,035 43,106 (262,244) 312,628
Shutdown costs capitalised 236,601 16,317 - - - - (121,329) 131,589
Assets under development 1,751,877 427,976 - (1,339,808) - - - 840,045

4,250,429 1,162,848 (72) (20) 260,035 43,106 (848,477) 4,867,849
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Figures in Rand thousand 

3. Intangible assets
Group 2009 2008

Cost/
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value 

Cost/
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Exploration licensing fee 79,162 - 79,162 79,162 - 79,162
Software 5,554 (1,557) 3,997 1,142 (1,048) 94
Total 84,716 (1,557) 83,159 80,304 (1,048) 79,256

Company 2009 2008
Cost/

Valuation
Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value 

Cost/
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Software 5,554 (1,557) 3,997 1,142 (1,048) 94

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 2009

Opening 
Balance Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

Exploration licensing fee 79,162 - - - 79,162
Software 94 3,693 338 (128) 3,997

79,256 3,693 338 (128) 83,159

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2008

Opening 
Balance Transfers Total

Exploration licensing fee 79,162 - 79,162
Software  74 20 94

79,236 20 79,256

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2009

Opening 
Balance Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

Software 94 3,693 338 (128) 3,997

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2008

Opening 
Balance Transfers Total

Software 74 20 94



PetroSA Annual Report 2009 107

PetroSA

Figures in Rand thousand 

4. Assets pending determination
Group 2009 2008

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value 

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Exploratory wells 54,793 - 54,793 54,793 - 54,793

Company 2009 2008
Cost / 

Valuation
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value 

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Exploratory wells 54,793 - 54,793 54,793 - 54,793

Reconciliation of assets pending determination - Group - 2009

Opening 
Balance Total

Exploratory wells 54,793 54,793

Reconciliation of assets pending determination - Group - 2008

Opening 
Balance Total

Exploratory wells 54,793 54,793

Assets pending determination as at 31 March 2009 consist of expenditure in respect of exploration activities, which have been capitalised 
pending the determination of the economic reserves. The accounting policy (refer to Note 1.7) recommends that intangible assets of this 
nature should be recognised as production assets after a period of 3 years or expended. Assets pending the determination consists of the 
well A-X1, which is within Block 2A. A development plan was submitted to the Petroleum Agency of South Africa for approval.
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5. Investments in subsidiaries
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

PetroSA Synfuel International (Pty)
Ltd (100%)
Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 501 501
Provision for impairment - - (501) (501)
Balance at the end of the year - - - -

PetroSA Sudan (Pty) Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.12) (0.12)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.12 0.12

Loans - - (0.12) (0.12)
Shares - - 0.12 0.12
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of
South Africa (Namibia) (Pty) Ltd
(100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.12) (0.12)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.12 0.12

Loans - - (0.12) (0.12)
Shares - - 0.12 0.12
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

PetroSA North America (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.07) (0.07)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.07 0.07

Loans - - (0.07) (0.07)
Shares - - 0.07 0.07
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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5. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

PetroSA Egypt (Pty) Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.10) (0.10)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.10 0.10

Loans - - (0.10) (0.10)
Shares - - 0.10 0.10
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

PetroSA Nigeria Limited (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 735 453
Advances/(repayments) during the year - - 550 282
Balance at the end of the year - - 1,285 735

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 1,235 1,235

Loans - - 1,285 735
Shares - - 1,235 1,235
Carrying amount of investment - - 2,520 1,970

PetroSA Europe BV (100%)
Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 166 166

Share premium:
Additional shares issued - - 2,965 -

Shares - - 166 166
Share premium - - 2,965 -
Carrying amount of investment - - 3,131 166

PetroSA Brass (Pty) Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.06 0.06

Loans - - (0.06) (0.06)
Shares - - 0.06 0.06
Carrying amount of investment - - - -
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5. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

PetroSA Gryphon Marin Permit (Pty)
Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.06 0.06

Loans - - (0.06) (0.06)
Shares - - 0.06 0.06
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

PetroSA Iris (Pty) Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.06 0.06

Loans - - (0.06) (0.06)
Shares - - 0.06 0.06
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

PetroSA Themis (Pty) Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.12) (0.12)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.12 0.12

Loans - - (0.12) (0.12)
Shares - - 0.12 0.12
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (Pty) Ltd (100%)
Loans:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - 0.06 0.06

Loans - - (0.06) (0.06)
Shares - - 0.06 0.06
Carrying amount of investment - - - -

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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5. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Total
Loans - - 1,285 735
Shares - - 1,903 1,903
Share premium - - 2,965 -
Provision for impairment - - (501) (501)
Carrying amount of investment - - 5,652 2,137

6. Investments in associates
Group

Name of company 
Country of 

incorporation
% holding 

2009
% holding 

2008
Carrying 

amount 2009
Carrying 

amount 2008
Sud-Chemie Zeolites (Proprietary) Limited South Africa - % 30.00 % - 10,108
GTL.F1 AG Switzerland 37.50 % 37.50 % - 911

- 11,019

Company

Name of company % holding 
2009

% holding 
2008

Carrying 
amount 2009

Carrying 
amount 2008

Sud-Chemie Zeolites (Proprietary) Limited - % 30.00 % - 7,633
GTL.F1 AG 37.50 % 37.50 % 23,490 23,490

23,490 31,123

Associates with different reporting dates

The reporting date of the associate is not the same as that of the Group. The Group results include the performance of
GTL.F1 AG for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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7. Other financial assets
               Group                   Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Loans and receivables
Forest Oil Gryphon Marin 1,603 1,603 1,603 1,603
The loan to Forest Oil Gryphon Marin was interest free.
GTL.F1 34,171 18,517 34,171 18,517
This loan is interest free and has no fixed repayment terms.
Lurgi 99,757 113,286 99,757 113,286
The amount owing by Lurgi is in respect of a purchase of 12.5% 
share in the PetroSA Statoil Joint Venture. The loan accrues inter-
est at Euribor + 3%. The loan is repayable based on dividends 
receivable by Lurgi from the GTL.F1 AG technology company.
PetroSA Egypt - - 523,919 19,382
The loan has no fixed repayment terms and interest accrues at 
prime + 2%
Brass Exploration Unlimited - - 339,229 289,747
The loan to Brass incurs interest at Libor + 14% and has no fixed 
repayment terms.
PetroSA Equatorial Guinea - - 408,666 220,161
The loan has no fixed repayment terms and interest accrues at 
prime + 2%
PetroSA Sudan - - 256,810 135,903
The loan has no fixed repayment terms and interest accrues at 
prime + 2%
PetroSA North America - - 2,629 2,118
The loan for PetroSA North America has no fixed repayment 
terms and accrues interest at Libor + 2%
PetroSA Gryphon Marin - - 189,120 88,380
The loan has no fixed repayment terms and interest accrues at 
prime + 2%

Subtotal 135,531 133,406 1,855,904 889,097
Loans and receivables impaired/written off (1,603) - (254,923) -

133,928 133,406 1,600,981 889,097

PetroSA has impaired its loans to PetroSA Sudan for the value of R253 million and PetroSA Gryphon Marin for R1.6 million, 
due to their recoverability being questionable.

PetroSA has subordinated the loans to various subsidiaries in favour of other creditors of the above-mentioned companies until such time 
as the assets fairly valued exceed the liabilities.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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8.  Amounts held by holding company
       This deposit is being held by CEF (Proprietary) Ltd as security for guarantees issued by itself to third parties on behalf   
      of PetroSA.

               Group                   Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

CEF (Proprietary) Ltd 537,648 537,648 537,648 537,648

9.   Inventories
The amounts attributable to the different categories are as follows:
Petroleum fuels 633,811 1,221,413 633,811 1,221,413
Work in progress 262,512 31,875 262,512 31,875
Consumable stores, spares and catalysts 604,095 594,289 502,598 594,289

1,500,418 1,847,577 1,398,921 1,847,577

10. Loans to (from) Group companies
Subsidiaries

PetroSA Europe BV - - 3,206 -
The loan is to be repaid within the first quarter of the new 
financial year. Interest accrues at Euribor + 2%.

Joint ventures
Salima 219,002 89,261 - -
This loan was interest free and had no fixed repayment terms

Subtotal 219,002 89,261 - -
Loans impaired/written off (219,002) - - -

- 89,261 - -

The Salima loan relates to PetroSA Sudan’s interests in the exploration joint venture with the Sudanese national petroleum company. PetroSA 
Sudan had on-lent the majority of its borrowings from PetroSA to Salima to meet its joint venture committements.

A Board decision was taken to divest from this joint venture and as a result of the divestment the loan to Salima has been written off in this 
financial year. The value of the Salima loan write-off was R219 million.
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11. Trade and other receivables
               Group                   Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Trade receivables 1,029,160 1,513,496 1,025,716 1,515,467
Prepayments 159,554 135,121 151,812 131,948
Deposits 260 673 - -
VAT 41,365 - - -
Foreign receivables - 84 - -
Provision for bad debts (48,076) (25,562) (48,070) (25,562)
Sundry receivables 612,390 550,316 622,389 606,911

1,794,653 2,174,128 1,751,847 2,228,764

The provision for doubtful debts consists of a number of customer account balances. The balance is aged as R44.5 million(2008: R14.5 
million) at over 120 days and R3.5million (2008: R11 million) between 90-120 days.

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Balance at beginning of year 25,562 13,948 25,562 13,948
Impairment losses recognised on receivables 22,514 12,364 22,508 12,364
Amounts recovered during the year - (750) - (750)

48,076 25,562 48,070 25,562

12. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks and investments in money market instruments. Cash and 
cash equivalents included in the balance sheet comprise the following:

Short-term investments in money market and cash on hand 11,293,137 11,911,919 11,226,557 11,833,490
Term deposits 21,575 20,117 - -

11,314,712 11,932,036 11,226,557 11,833,490

A term deposit of R21 575 304 is held in the company Energy Africa Rehabilitation (association incorporated under s21) and is commit-
ted solely for the abandonment expenditure for the Oribi field.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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13. Discontinued operations or disposal groups or non-current assets held for sale
The Group has decided to discontinue its operations in Brass Exploration Unlimited. The assets and liabilities of the disposal company 
are set out below.

               Group                   Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Profit and loss
Revenue 1,457,141 735,347 - -
Expenses (821,956) (403,936) - -
Net profit before tax 635,185 331,411 - -
Tax (198,342) (223,843) - -

436,843 107,568 - -

Assets and liabilities

Assets of disposal groups
Property, plant and equipment 280,512 326,862 - -
Inventories 18,954 22,635 - -
Trade and other receivables 78,995 270,745 - -
Cash 1,673,841 943,854 - -

2,052,302 1,564,096 - -

Liabilities of disposal groups
Other financial liabilities 150,705 186,423 - -
Other liabilities 994,923 937,592 - -

1,145,628 1,124,015 - -

14. Share capital
Authorised
5, 000 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 5 5 5 5

Issued
1, 914 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 2 2 2 2
Share premium 2,755,934 2,755,934 2,755,934 2,755,934

2,755,936 2,755,936 2,755,936 2,755,936
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15. Loans from Shareholder
               Group                   Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

CEF (Proprietary) Ltd (101,008) (95,631) (101,008) (95,631)
This unsecured US dollar loan is repayable in equal 
half-yearly instalments of $3,097,879 (R29, 793,851) 
with a final instalment of $2,492,115 (R23,967,916) 
due on 28 February 2010. Interest rate- floating to Libor.

CEF (Proprietary) Ltd (23,623) (99,652) (23,623) (99,652)
This unsecured US dollar loan is repayable in equal 
half-yearly instalments of $2,456,286 (R23,632,331) 
with a final instalment due on 15 September 2010. 
Interest rate – floating to Libor.

(124,631) (195,283) (124,631) (195,283)

Non-current liabilities (23,623) (105,149) (23,623) (105,149)
Current liabilities (101,008) (90,134) (101,008) (90,134)

(124,631) (195,283) (124,631) (195,283)

16. Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset / (liability)

Comprises:
Loans (45,039) (22,882) (45,039) (22,882)
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 385,225 - 385,225 -
Provisions 675,272 629,502 675,272 629,502
Capital allowances (934,494) (913,680) (934,494) (913,680)

80,964 (307,060) 80,964 (307,060)

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)

At beginning of the year (307,060) (139,958) (307,060) -
Increase/(decrease) in tax losses available for set off against 
future taxable income 388,024 (167,102) 388,024 (307,060)

Balance at end of year 80,964 (307,060) 80,964 (307,060)

Recognition of deferred tax asset

A deferred tax asset is recognised as it is expected to be utilised by future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from the reversal 
of existing taxable temporary differences.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Figures in Rand thousand 

17. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2009

Opening 
Balance Additions 

Utilised dur-
ing the year

Interest 
expense

Change in 
discount 

factor Total
Abandonment/Environmental 3,528,367 36,237 - 268,041 (232,245) 3,600,400
Post-retirement medical aid benefits 206,415 160,823 (67,008) - - 300,230
Rehabilitation provision - 7,500 - - - 7,500
Bonus 90,500 95,421 (81,615) - - 104,306

3,825,282 299,981 (148,623) 268,041 (232,245) 4,012,436

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2008

Opening 
Balance Additions 

Interest 
expense

Change in 
discount 

factor Total
Abandonment/Environmental 2,978,078 261,913 245,271 43,105 3,528,367
Post-retirement medical aid benefits 172,130 34,285 - - 206,415
Bonus 134,000 - - (43,500) 90,500

3,284,208 296,198 245,271 (395) 3,825,282

Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2009

Opening 
Balance Additions 

Utilised 
during the 

year
Interest 

expense

Change in 
discount 

factor Total
Abandonment/Environmental 3,508,174 33,672 - 268,041 (232,245) 3,577,642
Post-retirement medical aid benefits 206,376 160,862 (67,008) - - 300,230
Rehabilitation provision - 7,500 - - - 7,500
Bonus 90,500 95,421 (81,615) - - 104,306

3,805,050 297,455 (148,623) 268,041 (232,245) 3,989,678

Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2008

Opening 
Balance Additions 

Interest 
expense

Change in 
discount 

factor Total
Abandonment/Environmental 2,959,763 260,035 245,271 43,105 3,508,174
Post-retirement medical aid benefits 172,091 34,285 - - 206,376
Bonus 134,000 - - (43,500) 90,500

3,265,854 294,320 245,271 (395) 3,805,050

Non-current liabilities 3,908,711 3,734,782 3,885,953 3,714,550
Current liabilities 103,725 90,500 103,725 90,500

4,012,436 3,825,282  3,989,678 3,805,050
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Post-retirement medical aid benefits 

PetroSA contributes to a medical aid scheme for retired and medical 
unfit employees.

Rehabilitation provision 

This amount is for the rehabilitation of the land at the Voorbaai 
terminal.

Abandonment/Environmental

The R3 508 million provided for is based on the present value of the 
results of a study conducted in 2000. A sensitivity analysis indicates 
that an increase of 1% in the inflation and risk-free rates will result in 
a movement in the interest charge and a change in estimate of the 
abandonment provision. The quantitative effect would be an increase 
of R34.5 million with respect to the inflation rate and a decrease of 
R1.8 million for the risk free rate. 

The resulting provision could also be influenced by changing 

technologies and political, environmental, safety, business and 
statutory considerations. As a result of this PetroSA is currently 
conducting a new study. 

The total cost of future restoration costs is estimated at R5 690 million. 
This cost includes the net expenditure to abandon and to rehabilitate 
both the onshore and offshore facilities as well as other related closure 
costs. The costs are expected to be incurred as follows:

Financial year R’million
2010 1,190
2011 230
2012 249
2013 269
2014-2034 3,752

Bonus

The provision is for incentives for PetroSA employees who qualify in 
terms of their performance during the financial year.

17. Provisions (continued)

18. Trade and other payables
               Group                   Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Trade payables 638,662 1,440,543 605,950 1,364,652
VAT 801 729 - -
Accrued leave pay 50,801 44,072 50,801 44,072
Accrued expenses 942,316 779,729 833,654 764,012
Other payables 2,503 177 780 -

1,635,083 2,265,250 1,491,185 2,172,736

19. Revenue
Gross revenue represents the invoiced value of crude oil and fuel sales and other goods and services supplied, excluding value added tax.

Major classes of revenue comprise:
Fuel production sales 11,010,746 9,290,714 11,010,729 9,290,580
Crude oil sales 1,106,085 992,711 1,106,085 992,711

12,116,831 10,283,425 12,116,814 10,283,291
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20. Operating profit
Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

               Group                   Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Income from subsidiaries
Administration and management fees 32,715 25,971 59,910 38,432
Bad debts recovered - 750 - 750

32,715 26,721 59,910 39,182

Operating lease charges
l  Contractual amounts: Premises 4,382 11,397 771 6,550
l  Contractual amounts: Motor vehicles 217 - - -
l  Contractual amounts: Equipment 31 - - -

4,630 11,397 771 6,550

Stock provision 38,427 (6,104) 38,427 (6,104)
Loss on foreign exchange 8,915 16,337 8,922 16,337
Impairment of accounts receivable 22,508 12,364 22,508 12,365
Impairment on loans to Group companies 220,605 - 254,932 -
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 425,234 848,827 423,093 848,476
Salaries and wages 870,318 704,526 847,043 684,986
Pension and medical costs 112,958 100,934 112,958 100,934

21. Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fee 4,290 3,244 3,756 3,237
Expenses 228 183 228 183

4,518 3,427 3,984 3,420

22. Investment income
Dividend income
Associates – local - 870 - 870

Interest income
Interest 1,550,172 1,167,503 1,716,596 1,266,958

1,550,172 1,168,373 1,716,596 1,267,828
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23. Finance costs
               Group                   Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Non-current borrowings 7,800 15,234 7,800 15,226
Bank 6,924 7,762 6,924 7,762
Notional interest 268,041 245,271 268,041 245,271
Revaluation of foreign loans (44,591) (11,452) (44,591) (11,452)

238,174 256,815 238,174 256,807

24. Loss from associates
Attributable share of loss for the year excluding 
extraordinary items
Net loss for the year (2,413) (14,590) - -

25. Taxation
Major components of the tax expense (income)
Current
Local income tax – current period 385,833 357,250 385,833 357,250
Foreign income tax or withholding tax – current period 2,730 1,398 16 -

388,563 358,648 385,849 357,250

Deferred
Benefit of unrecognised tax loss (385,225) - (385,225) -
Movement of deferred tax (2,799) 307,060 (2,799) 307,060

(388,024) 307,060 (388,024) 307,060
539 665,708 (2,175) 664,310

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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               Group                   Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between the applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate:

Applicable tax rate 28.00 % 29.00 % 28.00 % 29.00 %
Permanent differences 7.31 % 3.50 % 7.31 % 3.50 %
Utilisation of assessed losses (1.92)% (12.50)% (1.92)% (12.50)%
Foreign taxes 0.14 % 6.80 % - % - %
Timing differences (34.56)% 5.50 % (34.56)% 5.50 %
Rate changes - % 0.40 % - % 0.40 %
Under accrual for 2008 tax year 1.06 % - % 1.06 % - %

0.03 % 32.70 % (0.11)% 25.90 %

Due to a change in the tax legislation pertaining to provisional 
tax, the tax liabilities in South Africa for PetroSA and its European 
operation are calculated based on actual financial performance. The 
second provisional tax payment was made on 31 March 2009.

The reduction in tax payable in 2009 is ascribed to a reduction 
in profit, in conjunction with increased capital expenditure on 

South African mining. Capital expenditure on South African mining 
enjoys additional deductions of 50% or 100% in terms of the 10th 
Schedule.

The foreign tax charge relates mainly to the Nigerian operations of 
Brass Exploration Unlimited, where the Nigerian tax rate is 85%, 
versus 28% in South Africa.
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               Group                   Company
2009 2008  2009  2008

R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000 R ‘000

26. Cash generated from operations
Profit before taxation  1,521,261 2,463,484 2,221,277  2,678,053

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 390,618 586,584  388,477 586,233
Notional interest (268,041) (245,271) (268,041) (245,271)
Dividends received  - (870)  - (870)
Interest received (1,550,172) (1,167,503) (1,716,596) (1,266,958)
Finance costs  238,174 256,815 238,174  256,807
Impairment loss 220,605 - 254,932  -
Movements in provisions 187,154  541,074  184,628 539,196
Movement in restoration costs 233,190 (40,897)  233,190 (40,897)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 13,976  (36,234) (45,258) (54,314)

Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  347,159  852,597  448,656 (914,195)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 379,475  345,649  476,917 (664,027)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (630,167)  (1,106,887) (681,551) 1,264,189

 1,083,232 2,448,541 1,734,805 2,137,946

27. Dividends declared
Balance at beginning of the year (205,000)  - (205,000)  -
Dividends  (725,000) (425,000)  (725,000) (425,000)
Balance at end of the year 375,000  205,000 375,000 205,000

(555,000) (220,000) (555,000)  (220,000)

28. Tax paid
Charge in income statement (539)  (665,708) 2,175 (664,310)
Movement in deferred taxation (388,024) 307,060 (388,024)  307,060
Movement in taxation balance  (256,172) 352,865 (254,703) 351,785

Payments made (644,735)  (5,783)  (640,552) (5,465)

29. Cash flows of held for sale/discontinued operations
Non-current assets held for sale (488,206)  (1,564,096) - -
Liabilities of disposal groups 21,613 1,124,015  -  -
Profit from discontinuing operations 436,843 107,568  - -

(29,750)  (332,513) - -

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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30. Employee benefits
It is the policy of the Group to provide retirement 
benefits for all its eligible permanent employees. All 
eligible permanent employees are either members of 
the Mossgas Pension Fund, a defined benefit fund, or 
PetroSA Retirement Fund, a defined contribution fund, 
both subject to the Pension Funds Act, 1956.

Pensions and retirement funds

Defined benefit pension plan

The Company operates a defined benefit pension plan 
for the benefit of employees. The plan is governed by 
the Pension Funds Act, 1956 (Act no. 24 of 1956). The 
assets of the plan are administered by trustees in a fund 
independent of the Company.

The Mossgas Pension Fund was closed to new entrants 
during 1996 and currently covers 38 (3.1%) of its 
employees. Contributions to the fund commenced in 
March 1990. The pension fund is actuarially valued every 
three years with the most recent actuarial valuation being 
performed as at  
31 January 2007. The independent actuary was of the 
opinion that the fund was financially sound. The actuarial 
present value of promised retirement benefits as at 31 
January 2007 was R46.5 million. The fair value of the 
plan assets had an actuarial value of R44.7 million and a 
market value of 
R44.7 million as at 31 January 2007, excluding the 
annuity policy. The value of the annuity policy for 
pensioners was R26.1 million. The fund was valued using 
the “attained age method”.

It was assumed that investment returns (after taxation 
and asset management fees) would exceed general 
salary increases (excluding promotional increases) by 
some 3% per annum over the long term. It was further 
assumed that if investment returns were 5% per annum 
in excess of inflation, pensioners would receive fully 
inflation-linked pensions. Mortality assumptions were in 

line with standard tables PA(90) after retirement. These 
assumptions were materially changed from the previous 
valuation.

The reason for the change at this valuation date was due 
to the impending termination of the fund and the resulting 
requirements to secure pension rights for all in-service 
members. In terms of the approved surplus apportionment 
scheme at 31 January 2004, PetroSA is entitled to receive 
R1.7 million of the surplus, net of R0.3 million termination 
expenses, which has been recognised as an income. The 
amount recognised as an expense during the year under 
review was R1 million (2008: R1.5 million) for the pension fund.

With effect from 1 October 2007 all in-service members were 
transferred out of the fund to the PetroSA Retirement Fund, 
and future accrual of benefits under the pension fund ceased.
The trustees are in the process of securing the members’ 
accrued benefits outside the pension fund.

Defined contribution pension plan

Soekor Retirement Fund

The valuation of the Soekor Retirement Fund as at 1 January 
2002 showed a surplus as at that date of R35 million, 
reflecting assets of approximately 
R82 million and liabilities of approximately R46 million. No 
contribution was recognised as an expense during the year 
as all employees were transferred to the PetroSA Retirement 
Fund.

The trustees surplus apportionment in terms of the Pension 
Funds Second Amendment Act has been completed.

PetroSA Retirement Fund

The Company operates a defined contribution retirement plan 
for the benefit of employees who are not members of the 
Mossgas Pension Fund. All employees qualify for membership 
of this fund. The amount recognised as an expense during the 
year under review was R52.3 million (2008: R43.9 million) for 
the retirement fund.
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30. Employee benefits (continued)

Medical benefits

Post-employment medical benefits

The Group has provided an amount of 
R300.2 million (2008: R206.3 million) towards the 
funding of post retirement medical scheme costs for all 
eligible employees and pensioners. This commitment 
is actuarially valued annually, the most recent valuation 
performed as at 31 March 2009. The actuary’s 
recommendation that redemption of 
R1.7 million be made for the previous financial year 
was implemented, with the credit made against 
income.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement 

medical benefits at 31 March 2009 is R300.2 million. 
The obligation is unfunded and was valued using the 
projected unit method. A discount rate of 8.5% and 
medical aid inflation rate of 7% was assumed. Mortality 
assumptions were in line with standard tables SA56/62 
(in service) and PA (90) (in retirement). A sensitivity 
analysis was performed on the medical aid inflation 
rate assumption used in the valuation. A 8% and 6% 
medical aid inflation rate assumption would result in an 
accumulated obligation at 31 March 2009 of R508.7 
million and R352.2 million respectively. The combined 
interest and service costs vary according to the  
medical aid inflation assumptions: R58.1million (7%); 
R71.2 million (8%) and R48.0 million (6%).

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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31. Contingencies
         Group             Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Guarantees
1.  The Group has issued guarantees in favour of financial institutions in 

respect of housing loans granted by such institutions to employees 
of the Group amounting to: 990 1,160 990 1,160

2.  The Group’s share of 55% of costs being $3.356 million would be 
payable from PetroSA’s share of revenues from any future produc-
tion within the E-P tract, should the tract be successful, thus repre-
senting a contingent liability. 32,276 27,231 32,276 27,231

3.  The Group has issued guarantees in favour of a financial institution 
in respect of vehicle loans granted by such institution to employees 
of the group amounting to: 10,038 23,682 10,038 23,682

4.  The Group has issued guarantees for the rehabilitation of land dis-
turbed by mining on the Sable field, amounting to: 180,000 180,000 180,000 180,000

5.  The Group has issued performance bonds in favour of the Egyptian 
General Petroleum Corporation in respect of minimum work obliga-
tions required for exploration operations in Egypt ($17.7 million). 171,018 170,396 171,018 170,396

6.  The Group has issued performance guarantees in favour of the 
Republic of Equatorial Guinea in respect of minimum work obliga-
tions required for exploration in Equatorial Guinea ($18 million). 173,115 146,054 173,115 146,054

7.  The Group has issued a parent company guarantee in favour of 
Aban Abraham in respect of rig hire for PetroSA Equatorial Guinea 
for $24.4 million valid until 15 March 2010. 234,667 - 234,667 -

8.  The Group has issued a manufacture and excisable bond in favour 
of the South African Revenue Service. 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

9.  The Group has issued an evergreen VAT guarantee in favour of the 
Dutch VAT Authorities (€0.455 million). 5,810 - 5,810 -

10. The Group has issued an evergreen VAT guarantee in favour of                       
Belgium VAT Authorities ($1.488 million). 14,311 - 14,311 -

11.  The Group has issued performance guarantees in favour of the 
Republic of Sudan in respect of minimum work obligations required 
for exploration in Sudan ($8 million). - 64,912 - 64,912

12.  A bank guarantee of LE96, 000 for the leasing of land at Marsa                    
Marina was issued by PetroSA Egypt (Pty) Ltd. 165 - - -

13.  A bank guarantee of LE250, 000 for the leasing of the jetty at Marsa 
Marina was issued by PetroSA Egypt (Pty) Ltd. 429 - - -

827,819 618,435 827,225 618,435
Claims
PetroSA is in the process of negotiating a settlement on a contractual 
dispute with a supplier. - 4,000 - 4,000
Claims by ex-employees. 600 - 600 -
Estimated legal fees in representing PetroSA that are irrecoverable 6,177 - 6,177 -

6,777 4,000 6,777 4,000
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               Group                   Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

32. Commitments
Authorised capital expenditure
Approved by the directors
Contracted for 2,492,263 1,722,145 2,136,123 1,722,145
Not contracted for 852,630 3,372,862 852,630 2,333,297

3,344,893 5,095,007 2,988,753 4,055,442

The Group’s commitments include R88 million for PetroSA Equatorial Guinea for a drilling rig and R268 million for PetroSA Egypt 
(Pty) Ltd for various drilling and logistical contracts.

Operating lease commitments
PetroSA (Proprietary) Ltd
– within one year 2,283 - 2,283 -
– in second to fifth year inclusive 2,881 - 2,881 -

5,164 - 5,164 -

Office space was leased at the Tyger Valley Chambers in Parow, Cape Town, effective from 1 June 2008. The lease payment was 
fixed at R178 345 per month, with a 8% escalation per annum.The period of the lease agreement is three years and ends on 31 May 
2011.

PetroSA Europe BV - Office space
– within one year 329 389 - -
– in second to fifth year inclusive - 259 - -

329 648 - -

Office space was leased at 3011XB Willemswerf, 13th Floor, Boomjes, effective 1 December 2004. The lease payment is Euro 
42,060 per annum, with an inflationary escalation per annum. The period of the lease agreement is five years and ends on 30 
November 2009, at which time PetroSA Europe BV has the option to renew the lease for a further five-year period.

PetroSA Europe BV - motor vehicles
– within one year 425 335 - -
– in second to fifth year inclusive 136 108 - -

561 443 - -

Motor vehicles are leased on behalf of its employees. The standard contract period is 48 months. The effective start date 
was October 2004 and ends November 2009.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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               Group                   Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

32. Commitments (continued)
PetroSA Europe BV – apartments
– within one year 129 101 - -

Apartments are leased for its employees. The effective starting dates were 1 October and 1 November 2005 for a period of two years and 
ended 30 September 2007 and 15 November 2007. The rental is paid on a month-to-month basis with a notice period of one month. The 
annual rental will be adjusted in line with CPI - all household series.

Equatorial Guinea
– within one year 776 941 - -
– in second to fifth year inclusive - 784 - -

776 1,725 - -

Office space was leased in Malabo for a two-year period, effective from 1 February 2008 to 31 January 2010. The lease payments are     
CFA 4, 000, 000 per month and were made advance for a year.

PetroSA Egypt
– within one year 1,567 2,050 - -
– in second to fifth year inclusive 314 2,722 - -

1,881 4,772 - -

Office space and accommodation was leased for two of its employees in Cairo. The effective starting dates were 1 December 2007 and 1 
February 2007 for a period of 36 months for the three leases with a monthly payment of $20, 700 in total. An escalation of 5% at the begin-
ning of the third year is applicable to the office space, with the two accommodation leases having 5% and 10% escalation annually. The 
Company has an option to renew the leases.

PetroSA Sudan
– within one year - 2,045 - -
– in second to fifth year inclusive - 4,090 - -

- 6,135 - -

Office space and accommodation were leased for its employees at no 45A, Square 2, Garden City District, Mugran. The lease period was 
12 months with a monthly payment of €8, 427.50 and an escalation of 10% for office space and 5% for accommodation for employees at the 
beginning of the second year.

PetroSA North America
– within one year 494 414 - -
– in second to fifth year inclusive 329 690 - -

823 1,104 - -

Office space was leased at Lyric Centre Office Building, 440 Louisiana Street, Houston, Harris County, Texas, 77002. The effective starting 
date was 1 December 2007 and the lease period is 36 months with a monthly payment of $4, 251.99 and an escalation of 0.692% linked to 
the increase in taxes; operating expenses and utility costs.
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33. Financial instruments
Introduction

The Group has a risk management and central 
treasury function that manages the financial risks 
relating to the Group’s operations. The Group’s 
liquidity, credit, foreign exchange, interest rate 
and crude oil price risks are monitored continually. 
Approved policies exist for managing these risks.

Risk profile

In the course of the Group’s business operations it is 
exposed to liquidity, credit, foreign exchange, interest 
rate and crude oil price risk. The risk management 
policy of the Group relating to each of these risks is 
discussed below.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s objective in using financial instruments 
is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows 
arising from movements in foreign exchange, interest 
rates and crude oil prices. Throughout the year under 
review it has been, and remains, the Group’s policy 
that no speculative trading in derivative instruments be 
undertaken.

Foreign currency management

The Group is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations 
as it raises funding on the offshore financial markets, 
imports raw material and spares and further exports 
finished products and crude oil. All local sales of 
finished products are sold on a foreign currency 
denominated basis.

The Group takes cover on foreign exchange 
transactions where there is a future currency exposure. 
The Group also makes use of a natural hedge situation 
to manage foreign currency exposure.

A sensitivity analysis was done for the net effect on 

revenue and expenses, and the weakening or strengthening 
of the Rand/Dollar exchange rate by R1 based on actual 
revenue and cost will increase or decrease profit by R789.5 
million (2008: R909.8 million) respectively.

Foreign currency instruments

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in the Euro, 
British Pound and US Dollar. The Group measures its 
market risk exposure by running various sensitivity analysis, 
including 10% favourable and adverse changes in the key 
variables. The sensitivity analysis include only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in 
foreign currency rates.

Financial assets

As at 31 March 2009 a 10% strengthening  the Rand against 
relevant currencies would have resulted in a decrease in 
foreign currency denominated assets of R131.6 million 
(2008: R122.7 million) and a 10% weakening in the Rand 
against relevant currencies would have resulted in an 
increase in foreign currency denominated assets of R131.6 
million (2008: R122.7 million).

Financial liabilities

As at 31 March 2009 a 10% strengthening in the Rand 
against the US Dollar would have resulted in a decrease 
in foreign currency denominated liabilities of R37.5 million 
(2008: R30.7 million) and a 10% weakening in the Rand 
against US Dollar would have resulted in an increase in 
foreign currency denominated liabilities of R37.5 million 
(2008: R30.7 million).

Currency risk

The Company has entered into certain forward exchange 
contracts that do not relate to specific items appearing on 
the balance sheet but which were entered into to cover 
foreign commitments not yet due and proceeds not yet 
received. The contracts will be utilised for purposes of trade.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

2009 Average Rate Year-end Rate
USD 8.3301 9.6175
EUR 12.7700 12.8510

2008 
USD 7.1035 8.1141
EUR 12.4446 10.0757

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Total foreign currency
Average forward 

exchange rate Maturity date
2009
Liability
$884,948 9.6331 Less than 3 months
$3,156,178 9.7256 3 to 6 months
₤61,101 13.8639 3 to 6 months
₤634,193 13.7657 Less than 3 months

Asset
₤1,890 13.7498 Less than 3 months

2008
Liability
$9,481,024 8.2171 3 to 6 months
$87,046,659 8.1238 Less than 3 months
₤866,175 16.1594 Less than 3 months

As at 31 March 2009, a 10% relative change in the US Dollar to the Rand would have impacted on profit and loss for the 
year by R3.9 million (2008: R72.1 million).

As at 31 March 2009, a 10% relative change in the British Pound to the Rand would have impacted on profit and loss for 
the year by R0.96 million.

As at 31 March 2008, a 10% relative change in the Euro to the Rand would have impacted on profit and loss for the year by 
R7.7 million.
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value Estimated fair value gain
2009

R ‘000
2008 

R ‘000
2009

R ‘000
2008

R ‘000
Forward exchange contracts – asset 26 - - -
Forward exchange contracts – liability (48,798) (799,050) (3,521) 20,473

(48,772) (799,050) (3,521) 20,473

Credit risk
Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk, pertain principally to trade receivables 
and investments in the South African money market. Trade receivables are presented net of the allowance for doubtful 
debts.

The exposure to credit risk with respect to trade receivables is not concentrated due to a large customer base.

The Group manages counter-party exposures arising from money market and derivative instruments by only dealing with 
well-established financial institutions of a high credit rating. Losses are not expected as a result of non-performance by 
these counter parties.

Credit limits with financial institutions are revised and approved by the Board quarterly.

Cross currency interest rate swap
Set out below is the mark-to-market (MTM) valuation of the interest and foreign exchange portion of the cross currency 
interest rate swap.

              Group                    Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Financial assets
Assets from foreign exchange portion - - 12,557 5,564
Assets from interest portion - - - 2,352

Financial liabilities
Liabilities from interest portion - - (766) -

As at 31 March 2009, the interest rate and foreign exchange derivative position relating to the cross currency interest rate 
swap was in-the-money to an amount of R11.8 million (2008: in-the-money to an amount of R7.9m).

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

Maturity profile
The maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities at balance sheet date are as follows:

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 and 
5 years Over 5 years

Non-interest 
bearing Total

Group
At 31 March 2009
Assets
Cash 11,314,712 -  - - 11,314,712
Trade receivables 1,794,653 - - - 1,794,653

Total financial assets 13,109,365 - - - 13,109,365

Liabilities
Trade payables 1,635,083 - - - 1,635,083
Interest bearing borrowings 101,008 23,623 - - 124,631

Total financial liabilities 1,736,091 23,623 - - 1,759,714

At 31 March 2008
Assets
Cash 11,932,036 - - - 11,932,036
Trade receivables 2,174,128 - - - 2,174,128

Total financial assets 14,106,164 - - - 14,106,164

Liabilities
Trade payables 2,265,250 - - - 2,265,250
Interest bearing borrowings 90,134 105,149 - - 195,283

Total financial liabilities 2,355,384 105,149 - - 2,460,533

Company
At 31 March 2009
Assets
Cash 11,226,557 - - - 11,226,557
Trade receivables 1,751,847 - - - 1,751,847

Total financial assets 12,978,404 - - - 12,978,404
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 and 
5 years Over 5 years

Non-interest 
bearing Total

Liabilities
Trade payables 1,491,185 - - - 1,491,185
Interest bearing borrowings 101,008 23,623 - - 124,631
Total financial liabilities 1,592,193 23,623 - - 1,615,816

At 31 March 2008
Assets
Cash 11,833,490 - - - 11,833,490
Trade receivables 2,228,764 - - - 2,228,764
Total financial assets 14,062,254 - - - 14,062,254

Liabilities
Trade payables 2,172,736 - - - 2,172,736
Interest bearing borrowings 90,134 105,149 - - 195,283

Total financial liabilities 2,262,870 105,149 - - 2,368,019

Liquidity risk 
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast 
cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash resources are 
available to meet cash commitments. 

Price risk 
External sales and purchases are subject to price and 
basis risks associated with volume and timing differences. 

Price risk is mitigated using various operational and 
financial instruments. Instruments used are liquid and can 
be traded and valued at any time. The hedge portfolio may 
consist of exchange-traded options and futures as well as 
non-exotic over the counter options and swaps. Options, 
however, are only traded within zero cost collars. The 
selling prices are hedged using the International Petroleum 
Exchange (IPE), New York Mercantile Exchange (Nymex) 

or Singapore Monetary Exchange (Simex). 

A sensitivity analysis was performed for revenue and every 
$1 increase or decrease in the Brent crude oil price will 
increase or decrease profit by R74.6 million (2008: R70.9 
million) respectively, based on the 2009 financial results. 

Interest rate risk 
Exposure to interest rate risk on liabilities and investments 
is monitored on a proactive basis. The financing of the 
Group is structured on a combination of floating and fixed 
interest rates. 

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by 
maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are 
exposed to 
interest rate risk and the effective interest rates applicable:

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

%
Less than 

1 year           
Between 

1 and 5 years  Over 5 years Total 
At 31 March 2009 
Fixed rate 
Cash and cash equivalents (11.53%) 3,277,648 - - 3,277,648 
Cash on deposit (10.11%) 537,648 - - 537,648 

Floating Rate 
Cash and cash equivalents (10.92%) 7,948,909 - - 7,948,909 
PetroSA Europe (3.51%) - - 3,206 3,206 
Foreign loan - USD (2.13%) (101,008) (23,623) - (124,631) 
Trade receivables 1,751,847 - - 1,751,847 
Trade payables (1,491,185) - - (1,491,185) 
Brass Exploration Unlimited loan (15.97%) - - 339,229 339,229 
Lurgi (4.51%) - - 99,757 99,757 
PetroSA Egypt (15.00%) - - 523,919 523,919 
PetroSA North America (3.92%) - - 2,629 2,629 
PetroSA Sudan (15.00%) - - 3,490 3,490 
GTL.F1 (0%) - - 34,171 34,171
PetroSA Gryphon Marin (15.00%) - - 189,120 189,120 
PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (15.00%) - - 408,666 408,666 

At 31 March 2008 
Fixed rate 
Cash and cash equivalents (11.38%) 6,501,359 - - 6,501,359 
Cash on deposit (11.06%) 537,648 - - 537,648 

Floating Rate 
Cash and cash equivalents (11.47%) 5,332,131 - - 5,332,131 
PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (16.5%) - - 220,161 220,161 
Foreign loan - USD (3.43%) (90,134) (105,149) - (195,283) 
Trade receivables 2,228,764 - - 2,228,764 
Brass Exploration Unlimited loan (16.5%) - - 289,747 289,747 
Lurgi (5.54%) - - 113,286 113,286 
Trade payables (2,172,736) - - (2,172,736) 
PetroSA Egypt (16.5%) - - 19,382 19,382 
PetroSA North America (4.69%) - - 2,118 2,118 
PetroSA Sudan (16.5%) - - 135,903 135,903 
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate instruments 

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in US Dollar 
Libor, Euribor and Rand interest rates. The Group measures 
its interest rate risk exposure by running various sensitivity 
analysis, including 10% favourable and adverse changes 
in the key variables. The sensitivity analysis include only 
interest bearing monetary items and adjusts their value at the 
period end for a 10% change in interest rates. 

Financial assets 

As at 31 March 2009 a 10% relative change in the: 
• Rand interest rate would have impacted on profit and loss 

for the year by R146 million (2008: R147 million) 
• Euribor interest rate would have impacted on profit

 and loss for the year by R0.46 million (2008: R0.59 million)

• US Dollar Libor interest rate would have impacted on profit 
and loss for the year by R5.4 million (2008: R5.6 million) 

Financial liabilities 
As at 31 March 2009 a 10% relative change in the US 
Dollar Libor interest rate would have impacted on profit and 
loss for the year by R0.26 million (2008: R0.67 million). 

Market risk 
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial 
risks of changes in commodity prices and foreign currency 
exchange rates. Refer to note 33 for foreign currency risk 
management and price risk management. 

Figures in Rand thousand 

34. Financial assets by category 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

Loans and 
receivables

Fair value through 
profit or loss - 

designated Total 
Group – 2009
Loans to Group companies - 133,928 133,928 
Other financial assets 537,648 - 537,648 
Trade receivables 1,794,653 - 1,794,653 
Cash and cash equivalents 11,314,712 - 11,314,712 

13,647,013 133,928 13,780,941 
Group – 2008 
Loans to Group companies - 133,406 133,406 
Other financial assets 537,648 - 537,648 
Trade receivables 2,174,128 - 2,174,128 
Cash and cash equivalents 11,932,036 - 11,932,036 

14,643,812 133,406 14,777,218 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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34. Financial assets by category (continued) 

Loans and 
receivables

Fair value through 
profit or loss - 

designated Total 
Company – 2009
Loans to Group companies - 1,604,187 1,604,187 
Other financial assets 537,648 - 537,648 
Trade receivables 1,751,847 - 1,751,847 
Cash and cash equivalents 11,226,557 - 11,226,557 

13,516,052 1,604,187 15,120,239 

Company – 2008 
Loans to Group companies - 889,097 889,097 
Other financial assets 537,648 - 537,648 
Trade receivables 2,228,764 - 2,228,764 
Cash and cash equivalents 11,833,490 - 11,833,490 

14,599,902 889,097 15,488,999 

35. Financial liabilities by category 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

Fair value through 
profit or loss - held 

for trading 

Fair value through 
profit or loss 
- designated Total 

Group – 2009
Trade and other payables 1,635,083 - - 1,635,083 
Other 375,000 - - 375,000 

2,010,083 - - 2,010,083 
Group – 2008 
Trade and other payables 2,265,250 - - 2,265,250 
Other 205,000 - - 205,000 

2,470,250  - - 2,470,250

Company – 2009 
Trade and other payables 1,491,185 - - 1,491,185 
Other 375,000 - - 375,000

1,866,185 - - 1,866,185 
Company – 2008 
Trade and other payables 2,172,736 - - 2,172,736 
Other 205,000 - - 205,000 

2,377,736 - - 2,377,736 
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Expenses relating to PetroSA Sudan, PetroSA Gryphon 
Marin and PetroSA Egypt  were previously expensed 
incorrectly. They have been reversed and debited to the 
various subsidiary loan accounts. 

Tax credits relating to foreign operiations in Nigeria were 
not previously accounted for. This has been corrected 
with a prior year adjustment. 

Sudan 

All expenses relating to the joint venture operation 
in Sudan were incorrectly accounted for. With the 
incorporation of a separate  company, namely Salima, 
this error was corrected and the expenses removed from 
PetroSA Sudan’s accounts. 

Gryphon Marin 

The joint operating agreement was signed in the name 
of PetroSA Gryphon Marin, however the costs relating to 
this operation were incorrectly expensed in the accounts 
of PetroSA. This was corrected by reversing such 
expenses and debiting a subsidiary loan account for 
PetroSA Gryphon Marin.

Egypt 

The comparatives have been restated to address an 
error in the accounts of PetroSA Egypt. The correction 
resulted in trade and other payables being increased 
with opening retained income being adjusted 
accordingly.

The correction of the errors results in adjustments as follows: 

              Group                    Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Balance sheet 
Property, plant and equipment - (4,136) - - 
Trade receivables - 84,402 - 88,415 
Loans receivable - 89,260 - 88,380 
Trade payables - 55,268 - (20,424) 
Opening retained earnings - 39,281 - 169,411

Income statement 
Investment income - 5,465 - 18,650 
Other expenses - (69,512) - (9,160) 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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              Group                    Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

37. Government grants
Grants received 4,372 3,180 4,372 3,180 

PetroSA receives a government grant for training on projects. In terms of the signed agreement, PetroSA will receive a refund 
based on the cost incurred in order to provide specialised training on the project.

38. Directors’ emoluments 
Figures in Rand thousand 

PetroSA 
Year ended 31 March 2009

Salary

Bonuses and 
performance 

payments 
Pension 

contributions
Other 

contributions Total 
Executive Directors:
S Mkhize 3,874 521 232 156 4,783 
N Nika 2,194 382 219 91 2,886 

Total 6,068 903 451 247 7,669 

Fees

Bonuses and 
performance 

payments
Pension 

contributions
Other 

contributions Expenses

Compensation 
for loss of 

office Other Total 
Non-executive 
Directors:
P S Molefe 477 - - - 290 - - 767 
Prof Figaji 287 - - - 141 - - 428 
B B Siwisa 199 - - - 31 - - 230 
N Vukuza-Linda 328 - - - 197 - - 525 
D R Zihlangu 432 - - - 93 - - 525 
M W Mkhize - - - - 113 - - 113 
M B Damane - - - - 35 - - 35 
M Kajee 220 - - - 9 - - 229 
C W N Molope* 179 - - - 25 - - 204 
A Nkuhlu 396 - - - 321 - - 717 

Total 2,518 - - - 1,255 - - 3,773 

* Paid directly to employer until 31 December 2008.
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38. Directors’ emoluments (continued) 

Salary

Bonuses and 
performance 

payments
Pension 

contributions
Other 

contributions

Payment for 
conversion 

to fixed-term 
contracts

Compensation 
for loss of 

office
Expatriate 
allowance Total

Executive 
Management:
D Marokane 1,844 165 184 101 1,953 - - 4,247
E September 1,664 155 100 101 - - - 2,020 
N Siswana 1,871 304 112 68 - - - 2,355 
G Sweto 1,364 185 82 83 1,456 - - 3,170 
J E P Falbe 2,042 357 123 112 - - 508 3,142 
D Arendse 350 - 35 20 - - - 405 
J M Maisela 276 - 17 15 - 1,792 - 2,100 

Total 9,411 1,166 653 500 3,409 1,792 508 17,439 

Year ended 31 March 2008 

Salary/Fee

Bonuses and 
performance 

payments
Pension 

contributions
Other 

contributions Expenses Other Total 

Executive Directors 5,263 1,490 392 145 - 125 7,415 
Non-executive 
Directors 2,204 - - - 864 - 3,068 
Executive Management 7,533 2,278 526 188 - 211 10,736 

Total 15,000 3,768 918 333 864 336 21,219 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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              Group                    Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

39. Related parties
Related party transactions

CEF (Pty) Ltd 
Dividends declared 725,000 425,000 725,000 425,000 
Cash on call 537,648 537,648 537,648 537,648 
Services received 424 205 424 205 
Interest received 54,126 15,226 54,126 15,226 
Amounts owing 124,632 195,283 124,632 195,283 
Recoveries 365 188 365 188 
Trade receivables 60 150 60 150 
Trade payables 87 - 87 - 

PASA 
Services received 1,508 1,429 1,508 1,429 
Royalties paid 68,596 71,650 68,596 71,650 
Trade payables 79,543 15,587 79,543 15,587 
Trade receivables 121 130 121 130 

SFF 
Services received - 1,243 - 1,243 
Trade receivables 49,802 4,123 49,802 4,123 
Management fee 66,451 57,054 66,451 57,054 
Trade payables 34,307 - 34,307 - 

Subsidiaries and associates 
Loan to - - 1,471,358 686,563 
Goods and services - - - 18,901 
Loans owing - - 1 1 
Management fee - - 28,448 12,459 
Trade receivables - - 29,647 54,921 
Services rendered - - - 12,414 
Interest received - - 154,897 88,209 
Commission paid - - 29,382 24,066 
Trade payables - - 21,447 5,671 
Recoveries paid - - 11,758 1,026 
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              Group                    Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

39. Related parties (continued)

OPCSA 
Trade payables 1,015 890 1,015 890
Recoveries 8,799 7,806 8,799 7,806

SAA 
Services received/rendered 13,398 14,270 13,398 14,270
Rebates 562 - 562 -

Industrial Development 
Corporation of SA Ltd 
Services received/rendered - 294 - 294

SABC 
Services received/rendered 51 12 51 12 

Airports Company 
Services received/rendered 138 133 138 133 

Eskom Group 
Services received/rendered 289,730 177,260 289,730 177,260
Rental received 3,327 - 3,327 -

Telkom 
Services received/rendered 12,498 19,992 12,498 19,992 

SARS 
Payments 3,714,049 2,824,884 3,714,049 2,824,884 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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40. Interest in joint operating agreements 
The Group’s proportionate share in the assets and liabilities of unincorporated joint ventures, which are included in the financial statements 
are as follows: 

Percentage Holding/Tracts
2009 55% 

E-AA
55% 

E-AG
55% 
E-W

55% 
E-CB

55% 
E-CN

55% 
E-DC 

Current assets 54 52 216 37 56 -

Current liabilities 60 15 89 65 37 -
Retained income (1,010) (917) (82) (37,238) (1,878) (44,183)
Company contribution to venture 1,004 954 209 37,210 1,897 44,183 

Total liabilities 54 52 216 37 56 -

Revenue 3 12 - 5 18 -
Expenses (130) (124) (84) (293) (147) (213)

Net profit/(loss) (127) (112) (84) (288) (129) (213) 

Partners: Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45% 

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

Percentage Holding/Tracts

2009 55% 
E-CC

55% 
SCG 

Explore

55%
E-P

60% 
Sable

55% 
Namibia 

South

24% 
Block

 2A

Current assets 763 248 - 19,282 - 54,793 

Current liabilities 16 - - 9,789 - -
Retained income (178,383) (74,891) (36,533) (1,529,248) (18,436) (172,998) 
Company contribution to venture 179,130 75,139 36,533 1,538,741 (18,436) 227,791 

Total liabilities 763 248 - 19,282 (36,872) 54,793

Revenue 84 24 - 740,905 - -
Expenses (292) (7) (35,409) (542,804) (927) (10,448)

Net profit/(loss) (208) 17 (35,409) 198,101 (927) (10,448)

Partners: Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
40%

Pioneer 
45%

Anschutz
22.8%
Forest
53.2% 

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration



142 PetroSA Annual Report 2009

Figures in Rand thousand 

40. Interest in joint operating agreements (continued) 
Percentage Holding/Tracts

2009 24%
Block 

2C

10%
Namibia

North

10%
Namibia

1711

30%
BLOCK 3A/

4A

25%
ZAMBEZI

55%
F-Q 

Current assets - - - - - -
Current liabilities - - - - - -
Retained income (8,877) (1,795) (109,719) (1,928) (172,082) (1,181) 
Company contribution to venture 8,877 1,795 109,719 1,928 172,082 1,181 

Total liabilities - - - - - - 

Revenue - - - - - - 
Expenses (6,537) (808) (26,035) (1,294) (51,913) (253)

Net profit/(loss) (6,537) (808) (26,035) (1,294) (51,913) (253) 

Partners: Anschutz 

22.8%

Burlington 
Resources 

75%

Sintez 

70%

BHP 
Billington 

60%

Petronas 

42.5%

Pioneer 

045% 
Forest 
53.2%

Mitsui 
15%

Energulf 
10%

Sasol
10%

PetroBras 
17%

Namcor 
7%

ENH
15% 

Kunene 
Energy 

3%
Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 55% 
SCG 

Capex 

Production facilities 2,687,159 
Current assets 28,923 

Total Assets 2,716,082 

Current liabilities 5,194 
Company contribution to venture 2,710,888 

Total liabilities 2,716,082 

Revenue - 
Expenses - 

Net profit/(loss) - 

Partners: Pioneer 
45% 

Nature of project Production 
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40. Interest in joint operating agreements (continued) 
Percentage Holding/Tracts

2008 
R’000

55% 
E-BA

55% 
E-AG

55% 
E-AD

55% 
E-CB

55% 
E-CN

55% 
E-DC 

Production facilities - - - - - - 
Current assets 36 134 89 53 121 -

Total assets 36 134 89 53 121 -
Current liabilities 37 - - 40 24 -
Retained income (2,161) (705) (424) (31,152) (1,483) (43,970) 
Company contribution to venture 2,160 839 513 31,165 1,580 43,970 

Total liabilities 36 134 89 53 121 -
Revenue 2 12 7 6 8 -
Expenses (209) (17) (10) (315) (707) (274) 

Net profit/(loss) (207) (5) (3) (309) (699) (274) 

Partners: Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
45% 

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

2008
R’000

55%
E-CC

55%
E-AO

22.86%
Iris

22.86%
Themis

10%
Namibia

North

31.25%
Gryphon

Marin 
Production facilities - - - - - -
Current assets 801 8 - - - -

Total assets 801 8 - - - -
Current liabilities - - - - - - 
Retained income (153,050) (280) (26,259) (10,747) (987) (987) 
Company contribution to venture 153,851 288 26,259 10,747 987 987 

Total liabilities 801 8 - - - - 
Revenue 70 1 - - - -
Expenses (97) (36) (2) (27) (5) (1)

Net profit/(loss) (27) (35) (2) (27) (5) (1)

Partners: Pioneer 

45%

Pioneer 

45%

Sterling 

38.57%

Sterling 

20.57%

Burlington 
Resources 

75%

Forest 

50% 
Afren 

12.86%
Pan Africa 

25.71%
Mitsui 15% Tullow Oil 

18.75% 
Pan Africa 

25.71%
Afren 

12.86% 
Premier 

18% 
Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 
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40. Interest in joint operating agreements (continued)
Percentage Holding/Tracts 

2008 
R’000

55%
E-P

60% 
Sable

55% 
E-BB

24%
Block 2A

24% 
Block 2C

55% 
F-Q 

Production facilities - 51,629 - 53,812 - -
Current assets - 69,307 113 - - - 

Total assets - 120,936 113 53,812 - - 
Current liabilities - 68,749 - - - - 
Retained income (1,124) (1,294,860) (57,538) (162,550) (2,340) (928) 
Company contribution to venture 1,124 1,347,047 57,651 216,362 2,340 928 

Total liabilities - 120,936 113 53,812 - -
Revenue - 578,860 8 - - -
Expenses (849) (408,045) (6) (6) (2) (381)

Net profit/(loss) (849) 170,815 2 (6) (2) (381)

Partners: Pioneer 
45%

Pioneer 
40%

Pioneer 
45%

Anschutz 
22.8%

Anschutz 
22.8%

Pioneer 
45% 

Forest 
53.2%

Forest 
53.2% 

Nature of project Exploration Production Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

2008
R’000

24% 
Ibhubezi

55%
E-AA

55% 
SCG 

Capex

10%
Namibia 

South

60% 
Sable 

Capex

25.5% 
Zambezi 

Block 
Production facilities - - 2,272,183 - 66,177 -
Current assets - 33 59,009 - - -

Total assets - 33 2,331,192 - 66,177 -
Current liabilities - - 61,919 - - - 
Retained income (2,325) (736) - (17,509) - (5,833)
Company contribution to venture 2,325 769 2,269,273 17,509 - 5,833 

Total liabilities - 33 2,331,192 - - -
Revenue - 21 - - - -
Expenses (1,961) (700) - (6) - (114)

Net profit/(loss) (1,961) (679) - (6) - (114)

Partners: Anschutz 

22.8%

Pioneer 

45%

Pioneer 

45%

Burlington 
Resources 

75% 

Pioneer 

40%

Petronas 

42.50% 
Forest 
53.2%

Mitsui 
15%

ENH 
15% 

Petrobras 
17% 

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Development Exploration Development Exploration 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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40. Interest in joint operating agreements (continued) 

Joint venture with Statoil ASA 

The Company has entered into a 37.5% joint venture with Statoil ASA, the Norwegian state oil company, and Lurgi to develop 
GTL-Fisher Tropsch technology and explore and develop GTL opportunities in Iran and elsewhere. The PetroSA share of 
assets amounts to R325 million (2008: R288 million) at year-end. 

Joint venture with Pioneer 

PetroSA has a production sharing agreement with Pioneer for the South Coast Gas field production. The holding is 55:45 
respectively. 

41. Public Finance Management Act 
              Group                    Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Fruitless and wasteful expediture 

Standing time of transport vehicles - 189 - 189 
Loss in petty cash 4 - 4 -
Penalties and interest paid to SARS 194 4,464 194 4,464 
Late payment of cargo dues 1 - 1 -
Interest on late payment of invoices 904 203 904 203 
Penalties and interest for late payment of cargo dues 2,660 - 2,660 -

3,763 4,856 3,763 4,856 

The appropriate corrective and/or disciplinary actions have been taken where necessary. 

Irregular expediture 

Contravention of Company policy 600 - 600 -
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Notes 

Oil 

Fields in production and under development comprise the Oribi (80%) and Oryx (100%) and Sable (60%) oil fields. 

Gas 

Fields in production and under development comprise the F-A and F-A Satellite and E-M and E-M Satellite gasfields 
respectively. The additions in 2008 relate to the South Coast Gas project. 

Fields under appraisal comprise discoveries. The reserves shown are either all oil or all gas, excluding gas liquids. Oil 
includes condensate and LPG. 

Reserves and production are shown on a  working interest basis (100%). 

Oil and gas reserves cannot be measured exactly since the estimation of reserves involves subjective judgement and arbitrary 
determinations and therefore all estimations are subject to revision. The gas and oil reserves reflected above have been 
determined by an independent surveyor. 

Figures in Rand thousand 
           Group              Company

Crude oil/ 
Condensate 

MMbbl
Gas 
Bscf

Crude oil/ 
Condensate 

MMbbl 
Gas 
Bscf

1. Movement in net remaining proved and probable reserves
At beginning of year 11.40 129.40 16.00 162.20
Revisions of previous estimates (0.90) 14.70 - -
Production (4.20) (46.20) (4.60) (52.80) 
Additions 0.10 8.20 - 20.00 

At end of year 6.40 106.10 11.40 129.40 

2. Proved and probable reserve by type of field 
Fields in production 6.40 106.10 10.90 101.10 
Fields under development - - 0.50 28.30 

6.40 106.10 11.40 129.40 

3. Reserves by category 
Proved 4.90 76.10 7.90 85.10 
Proved and probable 6.40 106.10 11.40 129.40 

Total proved and probable reserves at end of year 6.40 106.10 11.40 129.40 

Fields in Production and Under Development
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Definitions 
Proved reserves 

Oil 

Means the amount of petroleum which geophysical, 
geological and engineering data indicates to be 
commercially recoverable to a high degree of certainty.  For 
the purposes of this definition, there is a 90% chance that 
the actual quantity will be more than the amount estimated 
as proved and a 10% chance that it will be less. 

Gas 

Means the amount of gas which geophysical, geological 
and engineering data indicates to be commercially 
recoverable to a high degree of certainty.  For the purposes 
of this definition, there is a 90% chance that the actual 
quantity will be more than the amount estimated as proved 
and a 10% chance that it will be less. 

Proved and probable reserves 

Oil 

Means proved reserves plus the amount of petroleum which 
geophysical, geological and engineering data indicates to 
be commercially recoverable but with a greater element of 
risk than in the case of proved.  For the purposes of this 
definition, there is a 50% chance that the actual quantity will 
be more than the amount estimated as proved and probable 
and a 50% chance that it will be less. 

Gas 

Means proved reserves plus the amount of gas which 
geophysical, geological and engineering data indicates to 
be commercially recoverable, but with a greater element 
of risk than in the case of proved.  For the purposes of this 
definition, there is a 50% chance that the actual quantity will 
be more than the amount estimated as proved and probable 
and a 50% chance that it will be less. 

Reserves under appraisal 

Oil 

Comprises quantities of petroleum, which are considered, 
on the basis of information currently available and current 
economic forecasts, to be commercially recoverable by 
present producing methods from fields that have been 
discovered but which require further appraisal prior to 
commerciality being established. 

Gas 

Comprises quantities of gas, which are considered, on the 
basis of information currently available and current 
economic forecasts, to be commercially recoverable by 
present producing methods from fields that have been 
discovered, but which require further appraisal prior to 
commerciality being established. 

Supplementary Information
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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PetroSA

CONTACT DETAILS

Physical address:
The Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South Africa (Pty) Ltd
151 Frans Conradie Drive
Parow

7500
Republic of South Africa
Tel: +27 21 929-3000

Fax: +27 21 929-3144

Postal address:
The Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of  
South Africa (Pty) Ltd
Private Bag X5
Parow
7499

Republic of South Africa

Website: www.petrosa.com


